A CALL FOR CONGRESSIONAL ACTION



PVC Toxic Chemicals in Toys and Packaging







A Report to the National Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys

A CALL FOR CONGRESSIONAL ACTION

Toxic Toys "R" Us

PVC Toxic Chemicals in Toys and Packaging

A Report to the National Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys

November 2010

Center for Health, Environment & Justice (CHEJ) Teamsters Office of Consumer Affairs

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	3
Statement of the National Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys	5
Executive Summary	7
Chapter 1 - Children's Health and Toxic Additives in PVC Toys and Packaging	13
Chapter 2 - The Global Toy Supply Chain and Toys "R" Us' Commitment to Reduce P	VC17
Chapter 3 - Testing of Toys Purchased at Toys "R" Us	20
Chapter 4 - Discussion of Toys "R" Us Testing Results	32
Chapter 5 - Inadequate Labeling and Lack of Transparency	35
Chapter 6 - The Dangers of PVC Used to Manufacture Toys "R" Us Toys	
Chapter 7 - PVC Toys and Dioxin - One of the Most Toxic Chemicals	39
Chapter 8 - Policy and Consumer Recommendations	42
Appendix A – X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) Testing Methodology	44
References	47
List of Tables	
Table 1: Toy Story 3 Product Testing Results	21
Table 2: Toy Story 3 Packaging Testing Results	22
Table 3: Fall 2010 Product Testing Results	23
Table 4: PVC and Organotins Analyses Based on Fall 2010 Toy Types	27
Table 5: Percentage of Fall 2010 Toys Containing Chlorine and Tin by Age Group	27
Table 6: Fall 2010 Packaging Testing Results	28

Acknowledgements

Sponsored by the **Center for Health, Environment & Justice (CHEJ) PVC Campaign and the Teamsters Office of Consumer Affairs**

With comments from the National Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys

Author: Michael Schade, PVC Campaign Coordinator, Center for Health, Environment & Justice (CHEJ)

X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) Toy/Packaging Testing: Jeff Gearhart, Research Director, Ecology Center

Cover layout: Julie Cooper, Teamsters Communications Department

CHEJ and the Teamsters wish to gratefully acknowledge all those who contributed by defining the scope of the report, providing information and reviewing the report draft. Without them, it would not have been such a comprehensive, grounded or useful tool.

We would like to thank Jeff Gearhart and the Ecology Center in Ann Arbor, Mich. for conducting the XRF testing; Professor Peter Orris, MD, MPH of the University of Illinois School of Public Health for chairing the Commission that reviewed the report; and Matteo Colombi from the Teamsters Office of Consumer Affairs for purchasing and mailing the toys to the Ecology Center and co-coordinating the project.

Several reviewers provided helpful comments on the draft of this report. Their feedback strengthened the final publication. We thank the following reviewers for their thoughtful efforts and assistance: Matteo Colombi and Cassandra Ogren, Teamsters Office of Consumer Affairs; Reed Dunlea and Stephen Lester, Center for Health, Environment & Justice.

About The Center for Health, Environment & Justice

CHEJ mentors a movement building healthier communities by empowering people to prevent harm through programs focusing on different types of environmental health threats. CHEJ works with communities to empower groups by providing the tools, direction, and encouragement they need to advocate for human health, to prevent harm and to work toward environmental integrity. Following her successful effort to prevent further harm for families living in contaminated Love Canal, Lois Gibbs founded CHEJ to continue the journey. CHEJ has assisted more than 10,000 groups nationwide.

About the International Brotherhood of Teamsters

More than 1.4 million Teamsters work in industries from ports to airlines, from roads to rail, from food processing and distribution to waste and recycling. The Teamsters fight for

environmental and social justice across the global supply chain. There can be no sustainability without respect for workers and communities.

For more information:

Center for Health, Environment & Justice

P.O. Box 6806 Falls Church, Virginia 22040 703-237-2249 www.chej.org

International Brotherhood of Teamsters

25 Louisiana Avenue Washington, DC 20001 202-624-6904 www.teamsters.org

*Organizations listed for identification purposes only.

Statement of the National Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys

November 18, 2010

This report is sponsored by the Center for Health, Environment & Justice (CHEJ) and the Teamsters Office of Consumer Affairs. We solicited environmental health experts, as part of a Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys, for their review and opinion and on our report findings. Their statement follows.

In 2008, Toys "R" Us pledged to reduce the use of PVC plastic in toys and to offer more PVCfree toys. The attached study, undertaken by the Center for Health, Environment & Justice and the Teamsters Office of Consumer Affairs, with the laboratory assistance of the Ecology Center of Ann Arbor, MI, reveals that the majority of toys in a limited sample from two Toys "R" Us outlets still contain PVC. In addition, 59 of the 60 toys sampled did not display labeling indicating that they contained PVC.

The manufacture and disposal of polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plastic involves the exposure of workers and the general public to numerous hazardous chemicals.

Moreover, in order for PVC to be used in toys, it must be mixed with lead, cadmium or organic chemicals containing tin. These chemicals are all toxic to children when ingested. In particular, they are all linked with potential brain damage. Because these chemicals are not tightly bound to the plastic, the lead or the cadmium or the organic chemicals containing tin can enter children's bodies from toys when the children chew or suck on the toys or the PVC-containing packaging that the toys come in.

It is widely known from studies undertaken by government agencies and independent researchers that chemicals used in the manufacture of PVC and which result from the disposal of PVC end up in the bodies of infants, children and adults. These chemicals were never intended to be in the bodies of infants, children or adults and may be linked to a number of adverse outcomes including learning disabilities, behavior problems, certain cancers, and to reproductive and development defects.

The Center for Health, Environment & Justice and the Office of Consumer Affairs Office of the International Brotherhood of Teamsters asked this independent Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys¹ to review the attached document. Having done so, the Commission strongly supports the recommendations contained in the report, which include:

• The phase out PVC toys and packaging by switching to safer materials;

¹ The Commission of Inquiry into Toxic Toys reviewed the attached document. It did not have a role in the design of the data collection or analysis.

- Eliminate the stocking of products that contain organotins and other hazardous chemical additives in toys and children's products;
- Label the material content of toys so that consumers can easily identify safer products.

The Commission also endorses the recommendation contained in the report for comprehensive reform of the Toxic Substances Control Act.

Commission members:

Peter Orris, MD, MPH Chair of the Commission Professor and Chief of Service Occupational and Environmental Medicine (MC684) University of Illinois at Chicago Medical Center

Charlotte Brody, R.N. Director of Chemicals and Green Chemistry, Blue Green Alliance Washington, D.C.

David O. Carpenter, M.D. Director, Institute for Health & the Environment University at Albany, SUNY Albany, New York

Jeff Gearhart Research Director, Ecology Center Ann Arbor, Michigan

Philip J. Landrigan, MD, MSc Professor and Chairman, Department of Preventive Medicine Professor of Pediatrics Director, Mt. Sinai Children's Environmental Health Center Dean for Global Health Mount Sinai School of Medicine New York, New York

Jerome A. Paulson, MD, FAAP Associate Professor of Pediatrics & Public Health George Washington University Medical Director for National & Global Affairs, Child Health Advocacy Institute and Director, Mid-Atlantic Center for Children's Health & the Environment Children's National Medical Center Washington, D.C.

*Organizations listed for identification purposes only.

Executive Summary

As the holiday season approaches and parents and others begin considering their holiday purchases of the latest toys and games, it is vital that those who purchase toys and games have the information they need to purchase safe, non-toxic gifts for children. Unfortunately, Toys "R" Us continues to sell toys containing and packaged in polyvinyl chloride (also known as PVC or vinyl), a plastic toxic to our health and the environment.

Children are not "little adults"—their developing brains and bodies, their metabolism and behaviors make them uniquely vulnerable to harm from toxic chemicals such as those released by the PVC lifecycle.

Toys "R" Us' Commitment to Reduce PVC and Offer More PVC-Free Products

In 2008, following waves of toy recalls and growing consumer demand for safer, PVC-free children's products, Toys "R" Us pledged to phase out the sale of toys containing lead or phthalates, reduce the sale of PVC-containing products and offer more PVC-free products. Toys "R" Us is the largest specialty retailer of toys in the United States, and operates under the Toys "R" Us, F.A.O. Schwartz and Babies "R" Us retail brand names. With more than \$13 billion in annual revenues and more than 1,550 stores worldwide, Toys "R" Us has a major influence on the toy market. As one of the largest toy retailers in the world, Toys "R" Us has the power and the responsibility to sell toys that are safe for our health and the environment and free of harmful plastics such as PVC.

Toys "R" Us promise to reduce the sale of PVC-containing products and to offer more PVC-free products is very important for protecting the health of children and the environment.

To determine whether Toys "R" Us has lived up to its commitment to reduce the sale of PVC-containing toys and offer more PVC-free products, we conducted a two-phased investigation to test toys, children and infant products sold at Toys "R" Us and Babies "R" Us for the presence of chlorine, tin, lead and cadmium. We conducted two rounds of testing. The first round of testing focused only on toys related to the popular feature-length motion picture "Toy Story 3" and was limited to collecting nine (9) different toys or samples. The second round of testing was in the fall of 2010 and involved a broad collection of 60 randomly selected samples from Toys "R" Us and Babies "R" Us. The toys we tested were randomly selected and are representative of the types of toys sold by Toys "R" Us. They include toys marketed for a variety of age groups, different types of products (i.e. balls, dolls, figurines, baby functional items), and were manufactured or marketed by well-known companies and brands (i.e. Disney, Nickelodeon, Marvel, Hasbro, Mattel, etc.).

In this investigation, the presence of high concentrations of chlorine is considered a surrogate for finding PVC as PVC is the only common plastic made with chlorine. Similarly, the presence of tin in the samples is considered a surrogate for the presence of organotins as they are commonly used in PVC products as an additive. Organotins, lead and cadmium, along with other chemicals such as phthalates, have been found in many PVC toys and other children's products. This investigation does not provide a measure of health risk or chemical exposure associated with any individual product, or any individual element or related chemical.

Testing was conducted using a portable X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) analyzer by the Ecology Center in Ann Arbor, Mich. The XRF is an accurate device that has been used by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to screen packaging; the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to screen food; and many state and county health departments to screen for residential lead paint. The XRF methodology can identify the presence of chemicals such as lead, tin, cadmium, chlorine and others in a wide variety of situations. In this study we report on the results of testing for chlorine, tin, lead and cadmium in both the toys and packaging.

Toys "R" Us' Broken Promise: PVC and Organotins Widespread in Toys and Packaging

This investigation found that, despite its commitment more than two years ago, Toys "R" Us continues to stock and sell an extensive assortment of toys and infant products that are made of and packaged in PVC. These toys and packaging were also found to contain organotins. Almost all of these toys were made in China.

Toys that tested positive for PVC include Barbie, "Toys Story 3" Woody and Buzz Lightyear figures, Disney Princess Royal Giggles doll, Zhu Zhu Pets Hamster Hangout, Nickelodeon's Dora the Explorer and Diego figures, Sesame Street Elmo Faucet Cover, Club Penguin figurines, Imaginext toddler action figures and many others, from dolls and balls, to baby bath time toys and products, and even My Name Sippy Cups. PVC was also found in toys whose brands are owned by Geoffrey LLC, a subsidiary of Toys "R" Us, including You and Me dolls, Especially for Baby, and Sizzlin' Time items.

PVC in Toys/Children's Products at Toys "R" Us

• 72.5% of all toys/children's products tested contained high levels of chlorine, indicating they were likely made of PVC.

Chemical Additives in Toys/Children's Products at Toys "R" Us

- 20.3% of all toys/children's products tested contained tin, indicating the likely presence of organotins in these toys.
- 5.8% of all toys/children's products tested contained low levels of lead, indicating progress by Toys "R" Us and its suppliers in reducing the use of lead in PVC toys.
- 1.4% of all toys/children's products tested contained low levels of cadmium, indicating progress by Toys "R" Us and its suppliers in reducing the use of cadmium in PVC toys.

PVC and Organotins in Toys Intended for Infants and Young Children

- 67% of fall 2010 toys marketed to infants 3-12 months and up in age contained chlorine, indicating they were likely made of PVC. 17% of these age-targeted group toys contained tin, indicating the likely presence of organotins in these toys.
- 81% of fall 2010 toys marketed to children 18-36 months and up in age contained chlorine, indicating they were likely made of PVC. 19% of these age-targeted group toys contained tin, indicating the likely presence of organotins in these toys.

• 62% of fall 2010 toys marketed to children 4-6 years and up in age contained chlorine, indicating they were likely made of PVC. 46% of these age-targeted group toys contained tin, indicating the likely presence of organotins.

PVC in Toy Packaging at Toys "R" Us

• 52.9% of all toy packaging tested contained high levels of chlorine, indicating they were likely made of PVC.

Chemical Additives in Toy Packaging at Toys "R" Us

- 52.9% of all toy packaging tested contained tin, indicating the likely presence of organotins.
- 5.9% of all toy packaging tested contained low levels of lead, indicating progress by Toys "R" Us and its suppliers in reducing the use of lead in PVC packaging.
- 0% of packaging materials contained detectable levels of cadmium, indicating progress by Toys "R" Us and its suppliers in reducing the use of cadmium in PVC packaging.

Toys Made in China

• 98% of the toys in the fall 2010 testing were made in China.

Inadequate Labeling of Toys and Packaging

- In the fall 2010 testing, only one of the 60 products that we tested was labeled as containing PVC. This label was hidden under cardboard packaging and evident only after purchase.
- None of the products we tested were labeled as containing organotins, lead or cadmium.
- Of the toy packaging that we tested, 91% had no markings or labels that could help a consumer identify the plastic. Only two packages had a PVC marking, but this was on the bottom, hard to see and required extensive inspection.

Progress in Removing Lead from Toys and Packaging

The results of the study indicate that toy manufacturers and retailers like Toys "R" Us have made progress in reducing, though not eliminating, the use of lead in children's toys. The Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act (CPSIA), passed in 2008, also had a significant impact in reducing the use of lead in the global toy supply chain. We found 5.8% of all the toys and children's products we tested contained lead and 1.4% of them contained cadmium. Similarly, 5.9% of the packaging we tested contained lead and none of the packaging samples we tested contained lead and none of the packaging samples we tested contained reducing toys that may pose health risks for their children.

The Toxic Shell Game: Hazardous Organotins Replacing Lead and Cadmium

In order to make toys out of PVC, plasticizers and stabilizers, such as lead, phthalates and organotins, must be added to the PVC formulation. Without these additives, it's not possible to

use PVC to make toys or to create packaging. Lead has been identified as a problem chemical and it seems that progress has been made in removing lead from toys and packaging sold at Toys "R" Us stores. However, according to the findings of this investigation, it now appears that the company and its suppliers may simply have substituted one toxic additive, lead, for another, organotins. Organotins, which were introduced to replace toxic metal stabilizers like lead and cadmium in PVC manufacturing, are also toxic and have also been found to leach from PVC products. Organotins affect the central nervous system, skin, liver, immune system and reproductive system. The diorganotins, such as dioctyltin, can adversely impact child development and can cause birth defects. Dibutyl tin is toxic to nervous system cells at concentrations similar to those found in people today.

Since the organotins and other additives **are not chemically bound to the PVC in toys, they can migrate from within the toys to the surface. In turn, children may be exposed to these hazardous substances by playing with, chewing on, or sucking on the toys.**

Whether it's lead or the organotins, the best approach to avoiding the various toxic additives is to avoid toys and products made of PVC.

Toys "R" Us: Lack of Transparency Undermines Parents' Right to Know

Toys "R" Us prides itself in being "a leader in web search results for toys and baby goods, driving increased traffic to the company's e-commerce businesses and providing parents and gift givers with a wide assortment of the most sought-after products." Its toys and merchandise are available from at least one of the online catalogs tied to the company, such as <u>Toysrus.com</u>, <u>Babiesrus.com</u>, <u>eToys.com</u>, <u>babyuniverse.com</u>, <u>FAO.com</u> and <u>Toys.com</u>. While parents can easily use the power of the Internet to find information on price, availability, photos, customer reviews, and key characteristics through Toys "R" Us' online catalogs, it is nearly impossible to identify which toys are PVC-free or which contain PVC.

Most toys that tested positive for PVC were not labeled as such on the product or packaging, making it nearly impossible for parents to choose PVC-free products for their children. In the fall 2010 testing, only one of the 60 products was labeled as containing PVC. This label was hidden under cardboard packaging and evident only after purchase. None of the products were labeled as containing organotins. We conducted an online analysis to determine whether one can identify PVC and PVC-free products through the Toys "R" Us website. While there are more than 6,000 products accessible online, only 10 were labeled as "PVC-free" and another 26 acknowledged as "PVC-made." However, our investigation found that 72.5% of the toys/children's products tested contained chlorine and were likely made of PVC.

Toys "R" Us: Disingenuous Marketing on PVC

Adding insult to injury, the shelves of Babies "R" Us are stocked with infant baby bottles and baby feeding products brightly labeled as BPA and PVC-Free, but often only an aisle down, one can find baby bath time toys and products, several of which tested positive for PVC, though most lack any informative label to guide concerned parents. Toys "R" Us markets to the very same

babies' caregivers both set of products: advertising how it is keeping toxics out of one set of infant products while being silent on the presence of PVC in another set of infant products.

PVC's Lifecycle: Toxic Hazards from Production to Use to Disposal

PVC (or vinyl) plastic is used to manufacture many consumer products, including children's toys and infant products. The lifecycle of PVC, from manufacturing to use and disposal, uses and releases hazardous chemicals including chlorine gas, vinyl chloride, ethylene dichloride, dioxins and furans, mercury, lead, phthalates, cadmium and organotins that are toxic to children's health and the environment. Organotins, lead and cadmium are used as stabilizers in PVC to prevent degradation from heat during processing and from exposure to ultraviolet light during the useful life of a product.

Some of these substances are persistent bioaccumulative toxic (PBT) chemicals that have been documented to be accumulating in human tissue around the world. As a result of this contamination, babies today are born pre-polluted with potentially harmful levels of dioxins in their body. Chemicals released in PVC's lifecycle have been linked to chronic diseases that are on the rise, including breast cancer, learning and developmental disabilities, and reproductive health problems.

Limitations of Investigation

Our investigation did not test nearly all of the thousands of products sold by Toys "R" Us. However, based on a random sampling of toys purchased and tested, we found a substantial percentage of toys made out of and packaged in PVC. We also found a substantial percentage of toys and packaging containing tin, indicating the presence of organotins. Our investigation did not test for the presence of phthalates, which are hazardous chemical additives common in PVC products.

Recommendations for Toys "R" Us

Based on our investigation, Toys "R"Us, its controlling investors and its suppliers should take the following actions:

- Phase out PVC toys and packaging and switch to safer materials;
- Set clear public benchmarks and timeframes for implementing this phase out;
- Publicly report on its progress in phasing out PVC;
- Eliminate the sale of products that contain organotins and other hazardous chemical additives in toys and children's products;
- Label the material content of toys so that consumers can easily identify safer products. Toys without PVC should be labeled "PVC-free." Labeling would allow consumers to readily identify products containing PVC and its additives; and
- Update its online catalog with information about which toys contain PVC and those that are "PVC-free"

Testing for Phthalates in Toys

We recommend the federal government, perhaps the Consumer Product Safety Commission, conduct an investigation into whether Toys "R" Us and other retailers have reduced or eliminated the use of phthalates in children's toys.

The Need for Federal Policy Reform

PVC and organotins in toys and packaging is one of many examples of the need to reform federal law to protect consumers. As toy manufacturers and retailers have removed lead from PVC toys, they have merely swapped one toxic hazard, lead, for another, organotins. The presence of organotins in toys underscores the need for much broader chemical policy reform. Federal policymakers should reform America's outdated chemical policies that are failing to protect families from toxic chemicals and materials already on the market. The federal law regulating industrial chemicals, the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA), is more than 30 years old, outdated, and simply does not work to protect people and the environment. Of the 62,000 chemicals on the market at the time TSCA passed in 1976, EPA has only required testing on about 200; and it has only regulated five.

Legislation to revamp the 34-year-old TSCA has been introduced in the U.S. Senate and House of Representatives. Sen. Frank Lautenberg (D-NJ) sponsored S. 3209, the Safe Chemicals Act of 2010, and Reps. Bobby Rush (D-IL) and Henry Waxman (D-CA) have introduced H.R. 5820, the Toxic Chemicals Safety Act of 2010. The long-awaited, landmark legislation would overhaul the way the federal government regulates chemicals commonly found in our homes, workplaces and communities.

Under the new legislation, chemical manufacturers would have to provide basic health and safety information for chemicals and also demonstrate a chemical's safety in order to keep it on the market. The bills specify a standard of safety that explicitly protects pregnant women, children, and other vulnerable populations. The worst of the worst chemicals—those that build up in the food chain—would be targeted for immediate reduction. Product manufacturers and retailers that already work to reduce toxic chemicals would be given new information to help them achieve their goals. EPA would also be given a new mandate to identify communities especially hard-hit by toxic chemicals—"hot spots"—and develop action plans to return them to health.

Chapter 1: Children's Health and Toxic Additives in PVC Toys and Packaging

Polyvinyl chloride (PVC or vinyl) is a plastic common in many consumer products including children's toys and packaging. The use of PVC in toys requires the addition of plasticizers and stabilizers such as organotins. Without these additives, it's not possible to use PVC to make toys or to create packaging. Since the organotins and other additives are not chemically bound to the PVC in toys, they can migrate from within the toys to the surface.¹² In turn, children may be exposed to these hazardous substances by playing with, chewing on, or sucking on the toys. In addition, PVC also poses serious environmental and health threats at all stages of its lifecycle: from manufacturing to use to disposal. The lifecycle of PVC toys and packaging releases toxic chemicals hazardous to children's health and the environment, including chlorine gas, vinyl chloride, ethylene dichloride, dioxin, mercury, organotins, phthalates, lead and cadmium.³ Also, the manufacture and disposal of PVC toys and packaging contributes to the build up of dioxin in people around the globe.^{4,5,6,7} The levels of dioxin in our bodies are at or near the levels known to cause harm.⁸

Children More At Risk from Toxic Chemicals

Children are not "little adults"—their developing brains and bodies, their metabolism and behaviors make them uniquely vulnerable to harm from toxic chemicals such as those released by the PVC lifecycle.

- Exposure begins in the womb through the mother's exposures to toxic chemicals. Infants ingest chemicals through breast milk, formula and contact with their environment.
- Rapid brain development in the fetus, infants and young children make them more susceptible to harm from chemicals that may impair brain function and development.
- For their weight, children eat, drink and breathe more than adults—so pound for pound they take in a greater quantity of toxic contaminants. A small exposure translates into a big dose.
- Children put things in their mouths and spend a lot of time on the floor and ground, so they may ingest chemicals from toys, containers, dirt and dust on a regular basis.⁹

Health Problems Suffered by Children On the Rise

Increasingly, children are being found to be hyperactive, slow to learn and disruptive in school. The number of children in special education programs classified with learning disabilities increased 191% from 1977 to 1994.¹⁰ Asthma is a leading reason for school absenteeism and a leading chronic childhood illness.¹¹ One in 100 American children has an autism spectrum disorder (ASD).¹² Eight thousand American children are diagnosed each year with cancer¹³, and the incidence of cancer in children jumped 26% between 1975 and 1998.¹⁴ The incidence of testicular cancer in young men has increased by 60% and the incidence of hypospadias (abnormal positioning of the opening of the urethra on the penis) in newborn boys doubled from 1968 to 1993.¹⁵ Obesity is a serious health concern for children and adolescents, making children at risk for health problems during their youth and as adults. The prevalence of obesity has increased dramatically in recent years.¹⁶ Early puberty in girls is also on the rise, which is a risk factor for breast cancer.¹⁷ All of these diseases may have environmental exposures as contributing factors.

Concern about children being exposed unnecessarily to toxic chemicals leaching from toys made of PVC indicates the urgent need for precautionary action to eliminate these exposures in children's toys and in all areas where children learn, play and live.

<u>Numerous Toxic Chemicals in PVC Toys</u> and Products

As stated earlier, PVC in toys, children and infant products and packaging often contain toxic additives such as phthalates, organotins, lead and cadmium to soften or stabilize the plastic.³² These additives are not chemically bound to the plastic and can migrate out of the product^{33, 34} posing unnecessary toxic hazards to children and consumers.

Organotins in PVC Toys and Packaging

Organotins are used to stabilize PVC toys and packaging. They can also be toxic. They affect the central nervous system, skin, liver, immune system and reproductive system.³⁵ The diorganotins, such as dioctyltin, are potent developmental toxins and potent teratogens.^{36,37} Dibutyl tin (DBT) is toxic to nervous system cells at concentrations similar to those found in people.³⁸

One recent study found that dibutyl tin can interfere with the natural ability of human and animal cells to control important immune responses and inflammation. Researchers found that DBT is toxic to immune cells at very low concentrations similar to what have been measured in human blood.³⁹

Further, the mono- and dibutyl tin compounds used in PVC are often contaminated with tributyl tin (TBT), a potent endocrine-disrupting compound that has caused major damage to marine wildlife populations.⁴⁰ TBT affects the nervous system, and has caused reproductive and developmental problems in animal studies.^{41,42}

PVC and Hazardous Chemicals in Our Babies and Bodies

In recent years, a growing body of scientific evidence has found that toxic chemicals released by the PVC lifecycle have been found in the bodies of babies, children and adults.

* Babies are being born pre-polluted with potentially harmful levels of phthalates and dioxin that may possibly cause lifelong health problems.^{18,19}

* Organotins have been measured in human blood and household dust.^{20,21}

* Phthalates have been found in indoor air and dust, and in human urine, blood and breast milk.²²

* An extensive study of 2,500 individuals found metabolites of at least one phthalate in 97 percent of those tested.²³

* Phthalate levels are highest in children ages 6 to 11, and in women.²⁴ In a more recent study, certain phthalates were found to be present in 100% of girls ages 6 to 9.²⁵

* Dioxin builds up in our bodies over our lifetime and can remain there for many years. The levels of dioxin in our bodies are at or near the levels known to cause harm.²⁶

* The half-life of dioxin (the amount of time it takes for half of a given amount of dioxin to break down) in people ranges from seven to 11 years.²⁷

* Infants can be exposed to both phthalates and dioxin in breast milk.^{28,29} However, despite these exposures, breast milk is still best for babies.^{30,31}

Organotins and Obesity

New research has also found that some organotins have been linked to obesity. TBT has been named an "environmental obesogen" because it can effectively and reproducibly produce obesity in rat pups when given during pregnancy.^{43,44,45} Obesity is a serious health concern for children and adolescents, making children at risk for health problems during their youth and as adults. The prevalence of obesity has increased dramatically in recent years.⁴⁶ While exposure to toxic chemicals is not the primary cause of obesity, one recent scientific study suggests that certain chemicals may contribute to obesity.⁴⁷ PVC chemicals that have been linked to obesity include hormone-disrupting phthalates and organotins.^{48,49} One study examining organotins found that "developmental or chronic lifetime exposure to organotins may therefore act as a chemical stressor for obesity and related disorders."⁵⁰

Phthalates in PVC Toys and Products

We did not test for the presence of phthalates in this investigation, however phthalates are widespread in many PVC products. More than 470 million pounds of phthalates are produced every year.⁵¹ Phthalates are primarily used to soften or plasticize PVC products.⁵² In the U.S., approximately 97% of the phthalate DEHP is used to plasticize PVC products.⁵³ Approximately 95% of the phthalate DINP is used in PVC products such as toys.⁵⁴ Phthalates have been linked to reproductive problems including shorter pregnancy duration,⁵⁵ premature breast development in girls,⁵⁶ sperm damage⁵⁷ and impaired reproductive development in males.⁵⁸ A number of studies found correlations between phthalates in PVC building materials and asthma in children and adults.^{59,60,61,62,63} In 2006, the U.S. National Toxicology Program Expert Panel found that the phthalate DEHP poses a risk to human development and fertility.⁶⁴ In 2009, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) announced a chemicals "action plan" for eight phthalates which will likely lead to further regulations of phthalates. EPA plans to initiate rulemaking in autumn 2010 to add them to the Concern List under TSCA section 5(b)(4) as "chemicals that present or may present an unreasonable risk of injury to health or the environment." They announced this "because of their toxicity and the evidence of pervasive human and environmental exposure to them."⁶⁵ Certain phthalates including DEHP were banned in children's toys in the United States effective February 2009.⁶⁶

Lead and Cadmium in PVC Toys

Lead has been found in many different PVC products, including toys.⁶⁷ In the 1990s, an investigation of vinyl mini-blinds containing lead found they could contaminate house dust and contribute significantly to lead toxicity in children.⁶⁸ According to the EPA, "if not detected early, children with high levels of lead in their bodies can suffer from: damage to the brain and nervous system; behavior and learning problems, such as hyperactivity; slowed growth; hearing problems; and headaches."⁶⁹ The National Toxicology Program (NTP) of the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) has determined that lead and lead compounds are reasonably anticipated to be human carcinogens and the EPA has determined that lead is a probable human carcinogen.⁷⁰

Cadmium has been found in numerous PVC products including toys.⁷¹ The NTP has determined that cadmium and cadmium compounds are known human carcinogens.⁷² The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classifies cadmium as a known human carcinogen and the EPA classifies cadmium as a probable human carcinogen.⁷³

Toxic Additives in PVC Packaging

PVC packaging often contains toxic additives such as phthalates, lead and cadmium. A recent study funded by the EPA conducted by the Toxics in Packaging Clearinghouse found more than 50% of PVC packaging tested contained elevated levels of metals, violating packaging laws in 19 states across the country.⁷⁴ The researchers found that all packaging samples containing elevated levels of cadmium were flexible PVC.

Chapter 2: The Global Toy Supply Chain and Toys "R" Us' Commitment to Reduce PVC

The Global Toy Supply Chain

Worldwide toy sales reached \$80 billion in 2009.⁷⁵ While the U.S. and Europe only represent 9% of the total child population, in 2009 57% of the world's toy purchases were made in the U.S. and Europe.⁷⁶ The global toy market is highly concentrated and lopsided, with the U.S. being the biggest retail market, with roughly one fourth of global toy sales occurring stateside, and China being the largest producer and exporter of toys in the world, with more than 2/3 of global toys made in China.⁷⁷

The global toy supply chain is unfortunately often a toxic supply chain. In 2007, more than 17 million toys and children's products were recalled in the U.S. alone because they contained elevated levels of lead. Many of these recalled toys were made in China.⁷⁸ In 2010, more than 12 million items were recalled, from toy jewelry to kids glasses, because of excessive levels of cadmium, another metal with hazardous properties.^{79,80}

Toys "R" US Has the Market Power to Phase Out Toxic Plastics and Chemicals in Toys

While China looms like a giant in toy manufacturing, export, and in the headlines on product recalls, real power over the global toy supply chain rests elsewhere. U.S. brands, and especially giant toy retailers such as Toys "R" Us, have the power and the responsibility to phase toxic plastics like PVC out of the toy supply chain.⁸¹ They can define specifications, have the power to give or deny access to store shelves, and have the responsibility to monitor quality.

Toys "R" Us is the leading global specialty retailer of toys and juvenile products when measured by net sales and is the largest specialty retailer of toys in the United States.^{82,83} With more than \$13 billion in annual revenues and more than 1,550 stores in the U.S. and worldwide, Toys "R" Us has a major influence on the toy market.⁸⁴ The company has approximately 585 Toys "R" Us and 260 Babies "R" Us stores in the U.S. In the U.S. it has absorbed F.A.O. Schwartz and KB Toys, remaining the only specialized toy retailer of relevance with instant name recognition and a strong online platform.^{85,86} In 2009, approximately 70% of households with kids under 12 shopped at Toys "R" Us stores, and 84% of first-time mothers shopped at Babies "R" Us stores.⁸⁷ Toys "R" Us is involved directly in the sourcing process through Geoffrey LLC, a subsidiary of Toys "R" Us that owns a number of toy brands sold through the retail giant's stores such as You and Me dolls, Especially for Baby, and Sizzlin' Time.⁸⁸

Toys "R" Us has widespread global reach well beyond the American marketplace, selling merchandise in 33 other countries and jurisdictions.⁸⁹ Its global presence across various regional toy markets further magnifies its influence in standard setting across the entire toy supply chain.

Toys "R" Us therefore can affect the direction and standards of an entire industry. As one of the largest toy retailers in the world, Toys "R" Us has a responsibility to not only sell toys that are safe for our health and the environment and free of toxic materials such as PVC, but also to inform parents of the presence of PVC in all Toys "R" Us products.

The 2007 Toy Recalls and CPSIA Law

In 2007, Toys "R" Us' CEO Jerry Storch testified before Congress as a flurry of toxic toy recalls showed the whole world the inaction of regulators, the limits of our laws, and the failure of manufacturers or retailers in keeping toxic chemicals out of the global toy supply chain.⁹⁰

At the time, there were a number of major toy recalls due to lead hazards and other risks. Several major toy companies, including Mattel and Toys "R" Us, were brought before a congressional committee to answer questions about loose Chinese standards and spotty U.S. enforcement that contributed to the recalls.⁹¹

Storch testified that he supported new legislation that would strengthen third-party testing for toys and make the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC) more "effective" in preventing unsafe products from reaching store shelves. Storch also announced a new web site would contain information about the company's safety standards and improved procedures in publicizing recall information.⁹²

The 2007 mass toy recalls and the ensuing consumer backlash brought to national attention the issue of toxic chemicals in toys and generated a flurry of state-level and congressional action, resulting in the 2008 U.S. Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act (CPSIA).⁹⁶ The law banned lead and certain phthalates in children's toys, increased funding and enforcement authority for CPSC, required manufacturers to place tracking labels on children's products, made mandatory the requirements of the American Society for Testing and Materials toy safety standard (ASTM F963) and required that testing of children's products be conducted by accredited third-party laboratories.⁹⁷

While CPSIA set stricter standards for lead and six phthalates in children's products, it failed to address the larger number of unregulated and insufficiently regulated chemicals in children's products.^{98,99} When it comes to toys, for many known toxic chemicals or materials, such as organotins, no regulatory standards are in place.¹⁰⁰

<u>Toys "R" Us' Commitment to Reduce PVC and</u> <u>Offer More PVC-Free Products</u>

On February 15, 2008, after strong consumer

PVC Market Shift

In response to PVC's hazardous lifecycle, major corporations are phasing out PVC in favor of safer alternatives. Companies including Wal-Mart, Target, Sears Holdings, Microsoft, Johnson & Johnson, IKEA, Nike, Apple, HP, Dell, Procter & Gamble, Clorox, Firestone Building Products and many others have taken significant steps to reduce or phase out PVC.⁹³ More than 100 hospitals and health care providers have pledged to reduce or phase out PVC and/or the phthalate DEHP.⁹⁴ Several municipalities across the country including New York City, Boston. Seattle, Buffalo and San Francisco have enacted procurement policies to reduce the purchase of products like PVC that lead to release of persistent toxic pollutants such as dioxin.⁹⁵

pressure from a coalition of environmental health, labor and public interest groups including CHEJ, the Ecology Center, the Service Employees International Union (SEIU), and the Working

Families Party, Toys "R" Us agreed to reduce the sale of PVC toys and offer more PVC-free products.¹⁰¹ The company stated that it was reducing PVC use and moving toward a goal of offering PVC-free products. Toys "R" Us also announced that, by the end of 2008, juvenile products would be produced without the addition of phthalates.

The company's statement was perceived as a strong commitment to reduce and phase out PVC over time, and as an acknowledgement of the problematic nature of PVC and the chemicals associated with its lifecycle for the health of children and the environment. A few days after the announcement, on February 19, 2008, the consumer website *Boing Boing* ran a story titled, "Toys "R" Us to Eliminate PVC, Ni-Cad Batteries from Toys."¹⁰²

Chapter 3: Testing of Toys Purchased at Toys "R" Us

To determine whether Toys "R" Us has kept its promise to parents and families to reduce the use of PVC and offer more PVC-free products, CHEJ and the International Brotherhood of Teamsters commissioned the Ecology Center from Ann Arbor, Mich. to conduct a two-phased investigation of toys, and children and infant products sold by Toys "R" Us and Babies "R" Us in their retail stores.

The Ecology Center publishes the HealthyStuff.org website and conducts testing of children's and consumer products for the presence of hazardous chemicals of concern. They have tested thousands of products for the presence of PVC, including toys, pet products, automobile interiors, school supplies, apparel and accessories, and home improvement materials in homes.¹⁰³

Testing was done used a portable X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) analyzer. The XRF is an accurate device that has been used by EPA to screen packaging; the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) to screen food; and many state and county health departments to screen for residential lead paint.^{104,105,106} XRF methodology can identify the presence chemicals such as lead, tin, cadmium, chlorine and others in a wide variety of situations. See Appendix A for a detailed discussion of the XRF testing methodology.

Testing of Toys and Packaging from Toys "R" Us Retail Stores

Toy samples and packaging were collected on two occasions from Toys "R" Us retail stores for analyses with the XRF analyzer. The initial round of testing focused only on toys related to the popular feature length motion picture "Toy Story 3" and was limited to collecting nine (9) different toys or samples. The second round of testing was in the fall of 2010 and involved a broad collection of 60 randomly selected samples from Toys "R" Us and Babies "R" Us. In both rounds of sampling, each toy was analyzed over multiple areas for up to 25 potential contaminants. We report the highest level detected for each chemical of concern in the product as a whole (regardless of how many components the product has). In this investigation, we only report on the presence of four potential contaminants—chlorine, tin, lead and cadmium, as they are most relevant to toys. The packaging of seven (7) of the first-round samples and fourty-four (44) of the fall 2010 samples were also analyzed. The full test results are available upon request by contacting CHEJ.

The presence of high concentrations of chlorine in the samples is considered a surrogate for finding PVC as PVC is the only common plastic made with chlorine. Similarly, the present of tin in the samples is considered a surrogate for the presence of organotins as they are commonly used in PVC products as an additive. Organotins, lead and cadmium are used as stabilizers in PVC to prevent degradation from heat during processing and from exposure to ultraviolet light during the useful life of a product. We did not test for the presence of phthalates, which are common additives found in many PVC products. This investigation does not provide a measure of health risk or chemical exposure associated with any individual product, or any individual element or related chemical.

Toys Tested are Representative of Products Sold at Toys "R" Us

The toys we tested were randomly selected and are representative of the types of toys sold by Toys "R" Us. They include toys marketed for a variety of age groups, different types of products (i.e. balls, dolls, figurines, baby functional items), and were manufactured or marketed by well-known companies and brands (i.e. Disney, Nickelodeon, Marvel, Hasbro, Mattel, etc.). We selected toys in the first round because they were all from a new popular movie, "Toy Story 3." The second round was designed to collect a broader range of toys and products sold at both Toys "R" Us and Babies "R" Us stores.

Testing of 'Toy Story 3' Toys Sold at Toys "R" Us Stores

A random selection of "Toy Story 3" toys were purchased at a Toys "R" Us retail store in Ann Arbor, Mich. on June 15, 2010. These toys were tested as they were the newest merchandise from a well-known brand to come onto market. A total of nine (9) different toys were purchased and analyzed for the presence of chlorine, tin, lead, cadmium, and a range of elements and metals. The packaging of seven (7) of these samples were analyzed for these same contaminants. Detection of high levels of chlorine in a toy component indicates the likely presence of PVC. Detection of tin indicates the likely presence of organotins used in PVC products to stabilize the product. Tables 1 and 2 summarize the testing results. The full test results are available upon request by contacting CHEJ.

Name of Product	Component Area Tested	Chlorine (indicating likely made of PVC)	Tin (indicating likely use of organotins)	Cadmium	Lead
Tub Time Friends	Buzz	344,894	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Bucket O Soldiers	Army Man	287,652	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Lotso with Sparks and Chunk	Blue Robot	220,006	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Defender Buzz Lightyear Figure	Buzz Body	270,233	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Twitch Figure	Green/Orange Plastic	73,889	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Round 'Em Up Sheriff Woody Figure	Lasso	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>71</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>71</td><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	71	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Buzz and Wody figures	Buzz-White Green	244,992	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Great Shape Barbie	Barbie Hair	550,000	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>

Table 1: 'Toy Story 3' Product Testing Results (Concentrations in parts per million or ppm)

Buzz Lightyear	Gun-Purple/White	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th>11</th></lod<></th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th>11</th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""><th>11</th></lod<>	11
Water Blasters					

Note: <LOD = *below the limit of detection.*

Summary of Toy Story 3 Product Testing Results

- 9 toys/children products were tested.
- 77.8% of toys (7/9) contained high levels of chlorine, indicating the toys were most likely made out of PVC. Almost all of them were not labeled as containing PVC.
- 11.1% (1/9) of toys tested contained low levels of cadmium and lead.
- None of the toys contained detectable levels of tin.

<u>Table 2: Toy Story 3 Packaging Testing Results</u> (Concentrations in parts per million or ppm)

Name of Product	Component A rea Tested	Chlorine (indicating	Tin (indicating	Cadmium	Lead
	Alta Itsitu	likely made of PVC)	likely use of organotins)		
Tub Time Friends	Packaging	550,000	980	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Lotso with Sparks and Chunk	Packaging	550,000	1,976	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Defender Buzz Lightyear Figure	Packaging	550,000	2,359	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Twitch Figure	Packaging	550,000	1,953	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Round 'Em Up Sheriff Woody Figure	Packaging	550,000	2,070	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Buzz and Woody figures	Packaging	550,000	1,515	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
Great Shape Barbie	Packaging	550,000	1,789	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>

Note: <LOD = *below the limit of detection.*

Summary of Toy Story 3 Packaging Testing Results

- 7 "Toy Story 3" packaging materials were tested.
- Every single toy's packaging contained high levels of chlorine, indicating the packaging was most likely made of PVC.
- Every single one of the products' packaging contains tin, indicating the likely use of organotins in the packaging material.
- None of the packaging materials contained detectable levels of lead or cadmium.

Fall 2010 Testing of Toys Purchased at Toys "R" Us Stores

Following up on the "Toy Story 3" testing, we commissioned the Ecology Center to conduct another more extensive round of testing to further determine whether or not chlorine/PVC and organotins were present in a wider range of toys and packaging sold by Toys "R" Us, or whether the PVC was unique to the "Toy Story 3" products.

A total of 60 toys/children and infant products were randomly selected and purchased from two stores. On August 31, 2010, 52 toys/children products were purchased from a Toys "R" Us store in Rockville, Md. and on September 6, 2010, eight toys and infant products were purchased from a Babies "R" Us store in Silver Spring, Md. The purchased toys and products were all shipped to the Ecology Center in Ann Arbor and analyzed for up to 25 contaminants. The packaging of forty-four (44) of these samples were analyzed for these same contaminants. We report on the presence of chlorine, tin and lead, and cadmium in these samples. Detection of high levels of chlorine in a toy or product component indicates the likely presence of PVC. Detection of tin indicates the likely presence of organotins used in PVC products to stabilize the product. Tables 3 and 4 summarize the test results.

Name of Product	Component	Chlorine	Tin	Cadmium	Lead
	Test Area	(indicating	(indicating		
		likely made of	likely use		
		PVC)	of		
			organotins)		
ZHU ZHU PETS HAMSTER	Yellow Zipper	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
HANGOUT					
KUNG ZHU BATTLE HAMSTER	Hamster Fur	<lod< td=""><td>214</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	214	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
NINJA WARRIORS THORN					
ZHU ZHU HAMSTER V4 JINX	Hamster Fur	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>9</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>9</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>9</td></lod<>	9
10.8					
KUNG ZHU BATTLE HARMOR	Green Armor	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
RIVET/THUNDER STRIKE	Toy				
HANDY MANNY FIGURE PACK	Young Boy	262,859	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ABUELITO'S BOAT	Body				
SMURFS BAKERY PACK	Small Cake	232,563	1,894	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	White Frosting				
DISNEY CLUB PENGUIN 2 INCH	Rocker Penguin	191,891	319	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
MIX 'N MATCH FIGURE PACK	Body				
SPONGEBOB SQUAREPANTS	Hamburger Bun	191,220	3,149	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SWITCH 'EM UP SPONGEBOB	C				
POSABLE PAL					
DISNEY BABY EINSTEIN TABLE	Table Topper	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>12</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>12</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>12</td></lod<>	12
TOPPER DISPOSABLE	Orange Plastic				

Table 3: Fall 2010 Product Testing Results(Concentrations in parts per million or ppm)

PLACEMATS ECO-FRIENDLY					
PRODUCT & PACKAGE					
DISNEY PRINCESS ROYAL GIGGLES CINDERELLA	Doll's Flesh Body	407,122	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SESAME STREET ON-THE-GO	Pink Plastic	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PURSE	Purse				
DORA'S FANTASY	Dora Brown	203,644	381	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ADVENTURES - NICKELODEON	Hair				
IMAGINEXT -FIREFIGHTERS	Yellow Belt on	127,400	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
FIGURES (3)	Firefighter				
NIHAO KAILAN AND RINTOO - WINTER	Yellow Animal	201,246	363	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
NIHAO KAILAN AND LULU -	Girl Back of	173,194	408	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SLEEPOVER	Head				
SPOUT COVER	Orange Body Fish	411,842	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
BATH BOOK	Green Cover	<lod< td=""><td>292</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	292	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Bath Book				
SASSY SNAP & SQYUIRT SEA	Orange Crab	408,941	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
CREATURES-9 SUIRTERS AND					
FISH BOWL TOTE					
INFLATABLE BATH TUB -	Red Crab	341,956	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ESPECIALLY FOR BABY	Plastic Bath				
	Tub				
25 DISPOSABLE PLACEMATS	Green Dinosaur	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Placemat	274 (04	I OD	1 OD	1 OD
MINI DUCKS -MUNCHKIN	Yellow Body of	374,604	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PATHTIME VNEEL ING DAD	White Vinyl	504 700			
FISHER PRICE	Underside	504,799	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
BATH SOUIRT TOYS -	Green Back on	375 463	<i od<="" td=""><td><i od<="" td=""><td><i od<="" td=""></i></td></i></td></i>	<i od<="" td=""><td><i od<="" td=""></i></td></i>	<i od<="" td=""></i>
ESPECIALLY FOR BABY	Frog	575,105			
MY NAME SIPPY CUPS - JOHN	White & Black	258.743	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
HINDE	Skull on Side	200,710			
INFLATABLE SAFETY DUCK	Yellow Duck	469,526	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
TUB - MUNCHKIN	Head				
NICKELODEON'S DORA THE	Dora's Flesh	550,000	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
EXPLORER - BAG -REACH FOR	colored Face on				
THE STARS	Front				
NICKELODEON'S DORA THE	Doll's	309,979	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
EXPLORER - ICE SKATER	Turquoise Skirt				
NICKELODEON'S DORA THE	Yellow Hat on	332,845	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>< LOD</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>< LOD</td></lod<>	< LOD
EXPLORER -BOOTS & ISA -	Boots				
PART OF DORA WINDOW					
SURPRISES DOLLHOUSE					
COLLECTION					

POCOYO - PATO POCOYO ELLY	Blue Feet on Boy	358,222	178	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""></lod<>
MISTERY MATES MEDIEVAL SCOOBY & THE CREEPER - SCOOBY DOO	Silver Armor on Scooby	191,448	783	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
DISNEY MICKEY MOUSE CLUBHOUSE - MICKEY (MUSICIAN)	Back of Mickey's Head	26,683	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
DISNEY MICKEY MOUSE CLUBHOUSE - MICKEY (FIREFIGHTER)	Yellow Hose	354,925	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
IRON MAN ARMORED ADVENTURES	Iron Man Yellow Body	145,797	3,215	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
FLASHING ATOM BALL	Orange Atom Point	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
MAUI TOYS WATER BOUNCER - BALL	Label and Water Ball	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
GLITTER INFLATED BALL	Outside of Glitter Ball	258,735	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SPORTS BALL - BASKETBALL (MINI)	Outside of Basketball	347,811	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SPORTS BALL - SOCCER BALL (MINI)	White Section of Soccer Ball	550,000	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
YOU & ME BABY ON THE GO - & TOTE BAG	Plastic on Bag	550,000	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
POLLY POCKET + SQUIRRELULAR PHONE FASHIONS POLLY POCKET POP'N LOCK FASHIONS 10+ PIECES	Pink Dress on Polly	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
TATTOODLES PRINCESS SURPRISE	Plastic of Doll	339,966	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SIZZLIN' COOL FISH SQUIRTS	Yellow Fish	345,249	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
RUBBER DUCK FAMILY	Yellow Duck	406,359	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SESAME STREET ELMO FAUCET COVER	Red Elmo Head	269,906	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
YOU & ME TAKE ALONG BABY	Plastic Body	395,984	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
TUB TOYS - TOTE	Red Fish	512,694	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
MERMAID DOLL	Skin on Back	294,746	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
YOU & ME KISS & BABBLES BABY	Baby's Body	364,525	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>

ANIMAL PLANET BARNYARD PLAYSET	Green Tree Canopy	393,642	565	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""></lod<>
GEOTRAX GAS N' GO STATION	Red Plastic Roof	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ANIMAL PLANET STRETCHY DRAGON	Dragon Body- Underside	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>51</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>51</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>51</td></lod<>	51
SQUEEZABLE FROG	Yellow Body	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
HANFUL OF HEROES MARVEL UNIVERSE	Yellow Figure	352,541	3,127	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
IRON MAN 2 MINIMATES MARVEL UNIVERSE 2 PACK MARK V IRON MAN -WAR MACHINE	Gray Figure	207,794	737	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
BATMAN THE BRAVE AND THE BOLD ACTION LEAGUE - BATMAN VS THE DEMON ETRIGAN FIGURES DC	Black Cape	217,788	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
MARVEL SUPERHERO SQUAD - GREEN GOBLIN SPIDER-MAN	Purple Cape	339,699	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
LITTLE PEOPLE NOAH'S ANIMALS	Cheetah	494,484	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
JUST LIKE HOME PLAY FOOD SET + BACKPACK - MCDONALDS	Cheese	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
JUST LIKE HOME FRYING PAN PLAYSET + FRYING PAN	Frying Pan Lid	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
KOALA BABY BIB	Pink Cloth Boarder	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>

Note: <*LOD* = *below the limit of detection.*

Product Type	Number of Products	Percentage of Toys Containing Chlorine (indicating likely made of PVC)	Percentage of Toys Containing Tin (indicating likely use of organotins)
Feeding	4	25%	0%
Bath Time	11	91%	9%
Animal	7	29%	14%
Dramatic Play	3	0%	0%
Ball	5	60%	0%
Doll	8	87.5%	0%
Figurine	22	95%	50%
All product types	60	71.7%	23.3%

Table 4: PVC and Organotins Analyses Based on Fall 2010 Toy Types

Table 5: Percentage of Fall 2010 Toys Containing Chlorine and Tin by Age Group

Suggested toy age groupings	Number of Products	Percentage Containing Chlorine (indicating likely made of PVC)	Percentage Containing Tin (indicating likely use of organotins)		
3 months and up to 12 months and up	15	67%	7%		
18 months and up to 36 months and up	32	81%	19%		
4 years and up to 8 years and up	13	62%	46%		
The age groupings were identified on the toy packaging and are listed as the appropriate age levels for the toys.					

Summary of Fall 2010 Toy Test Results

- 60 toys/children's products were tested.
- 71.7% of toys (43/60) contained high levels of chlorine, indicating the toy was most likely made of PVC. However only one of those toys was labeled indicating it was made of PVC.
- 23.3% (14/60) of toys contained tin, indicating the toys most likely contained organotins.

- Of those toys that contained tin, 85.7% (12/14) also contained high levels of chlorine which indicate the toy was likely made of PVC.
- 67% of toys marketed to infants 3 to 12 months and up in age contained chlorine, indicating the toy was likely made of PVC. 17% of those age-group toys contained tin, indicating likely use of organotins.
- 81% of toys for children 18 to 36 months and up in age contained chlorine, indicating the toy was likely made of PVC. 19% of those age-group toys contained tin, indicating likely use of organotins.
- 62% of toys for children 4 to 6 years and up in age contained chlorine, indicating the toy was likely made of PVC. 46% of those age-group toys contained tin, indicating likely use of organotins.
- 5% (3/60) of the toys contained low levels of lead.
- None of the toys tested had detectable levels of cadmium.

Name of Product	Component Test	Chlorine	Tin	Cadmium	Lead
	Area	(indicating	(indicating		
		likely made	likely use		
		of PVC)	of		
			organotins)		
ZHU ZHU PETS HAMSTER	Decal Front	454,499	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
HANGOUT	Packaging				
KUNG ZHU BATTLE	Clear Front	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
HAMSTER NINJA	Packaging				
WARRIORS THORN					
ZHU ZHU HAMSTER V4	Clear Front	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
JINX 10.6	Packaging				
KUNG ZHU BATTLE	Clear Front	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
HARMOR	Packaging				
RIVET/THUNDER STRIKE					
HANDY MANNY FIGURE	Clear Inside	550,000	1,838	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PACK ABUELITO'S BOAT	Packaging				
SMURFS BAKERY PACK	Clear Front	550,000	1,693	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Packaging				
DISNEY CLUB PENGUIN 2	Clear Inside	550,000	1,363	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
INCH MIX 'N MATCH	Packaging				
FIGURE PACK					
SPONGEBOB	Clear Front	550,000	1,259	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SQUAREPANTS SWITCH	Packaging				
'EM UP SPONGEBOB					
POSABLE PAL					

Table 6: Fall 2010 Packaging Testing Results(Concentrations in parts per million or ppm)

DISNEY BABY EINSTEIN	Outside Blue	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<></th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""></lod<>
TABLE TOPPER	Packaging				
DISPOSABLE PLACEMATS					
ECO_FRIENDLY PRODUCT					
& PACKAGE					
DISNEY PRINCESS ROYAL	Purple Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>11</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>11</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>11</td></lod<>	11
GIGGLES CINDERELLA	Packaging				
SESAME STREET ON-THE-	Yellow Inside	550,000	1,828	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
GO PURSE	Plastic Packaging				
DORA'S FANTASY	Clear Front	550,000	226	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ADVENTURES -	Packaging				
NICKELODEON					
IMAGINEXT -	Clear Plastic	550,000	1,986	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
FIREFIGHTERS FIGURES	Front Packaging				
(3)					
NIHAO KAILAN AND	Plastic Inside	550,000	192	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
RINTOO -WINTER	Packaging				
NIHAO KAILAN AND	Yellow Inside	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
LULU -SLEEPOVER	Cardboard				
	(Inside Box)				
SPOUT COVER	Green Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Packaging				
BATH BOOK	Plastic Packaging	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SASSY SNAP & SQYUIRT	Blue Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SEA CREATURES-9	Packaging				
SUIRTERS AND FISH					
BOWL TOTE					
INFLATABLE BATH TUB -	Green Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>20</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>20</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>20</td></lod<>	20
ESPECIALLY FOR BABY					
22 DISPOSABLE	Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PLACEMATS	Yellow Package				
MINI DUCKS -MUNCHKIN	Pink Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td>930</td><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	930	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	and Plastic				
	Outside				
	Packaging				
BATHTIME KNEELING	Green Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
PAD -FISHER PRICE	Packaging				
BATH SQUIRT TOYS -	Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ESPECIALLY FOR BABY	Packaging				
INFLATABLE SAFETY	Yellow	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
DUCK TUB - MUNCHKIN	Cardboard Box				
NICKELODEON'S DORA	Yellow Back	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
THE EXPLORER - ICE	Cardboard				
SKATER	Packaging				

NICKELODEON'S DORA THE EXPLORER -BOOTS & ISA - PART OF DORA WINDOW SURPRISES DOLLHOUSE	Plastic Packaging	550,000	2,030	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""></lod<>
COLLECTION					
POCOYO - PATO POCOYO	Clear Plastic	550,000	2,076	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ELLY	Outside Packaging				
MISTERY MATES	Clear Plastic	550,000	566	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
MEDIEVAL SCOOBY &	Outside				
THE CREEPER - SCOOBY	Packaging				
DOO					
DISNEY MICKEY MOUSE	Clear Plastic	550,000	1,684	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
CLUBHOUSE - MICKEY	Outside				
(MUSICIAN)	Packaging				
IRON MAN ARMORED	Plastic on	550,000	1,781	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ADVENTURES	Outside				
	Packaging				
POLLY POCKET +	Plastic Packaging	550,000	1,479	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SQUIRRELULAR PHONE					
FASHIONS POLLY					
POCKET POP'N LOCK					
FASHIONS 10+ PIECES					
TATTOODLES PRINCESS	Plastic Packaging	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SURPRISE					
SIZZLIN' COOL FISH	Plastic Packaging	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SQUIRTS					
SESAME STREET ELMO	Green Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
FAUCET COVER					
MERMAID DOLL	Plastic Packaging	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
YOU & ME KISS &	Pink Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
BABBLES BABY	Packaging				
ANIMAL PLANET	Green Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>28</td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td>28</td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td>28</td></lod<>	28
BARNYARD PLAYSET	Packaging				
GEOTRAX GAS N' GO	Red Cardboard	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
STATION	Packaging				
HANFUL OF HEROES	Plastic Packaging	550,000	1,334	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
MARVEL UNIVERSE					
IRON MAN 2 MINIMATES	Plastic Packaging	550,000	508	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
MARVEL UNIVERSE 2					
PACK MARK V IRON MAN					
-WAR MACHINE					

BATMAN THE BRAVE	Plastic Packaging	550,000	818	<lod< th=""><th><lod< th=""></lod<></th></lod<>	<lod< th=""></lod<>
AND THE BOLD ACTION					
LEAGUE - BATMAN VS					
THE DEMON ETRIGAN					
FIGURES DC					
MARVEL SUPERHERO	Plastic Packaging	550,000	2,326	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
SQUAD - GREEN GOBLIN					
SPIDER-MAN					
LITTLE PEOPLE NOAH'S	Plastic Packaging	550,000	1,868	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
ANIMALS					
KOALA BABY BIB	Brown Plastic	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""><td><lod< td=""></lod<></td></lod<>	<lod< td=""></lod<>
	Package				

Note: <*LOD* = *below the limit of detection.*

Summary of Fall 2010 Packaging Results

- 44 toy-packaging materials were tested.
- 45.5% (20/44) of toy packaging contained high levels of chlorine, indicating the packaging was most likely made out of PVC.
- 45.5% (20/44) of toy packaging contained tin, indicating the likely presence of organotins.
- Of those toys that contained tin, 95% (19/20) also contained high levels of chlorine which indicates that the packaging was likely made of PVC.
- 6.8% (3/33) of the toy packaging materials contained low levels of lead.
- None of the toy packaging materials tested had detectable levels of cadmium.

Chapter 4: Discussion of Toys "R" Us Test Results

Toys "R" Us: Broken Promises to Reduce PVC

This investigation found that, based on a random selection of toys tested, Toys "R" Us continues to market an extensive selection of toys and infant items that contain high concentrations of chlorine and thus are very likely to be made out of and packaged in PVC, a plastic that is toxic to human health and the environment.

PVC in Toys/Children's Products at Toys "R" Us Stores

- A total of 69 toys/children products were tested.
- 72.5% (50/69) of these toys/children's products contained high levels of chlorine, indicating they were most likely made out of PVC.

Chemical Additives in Toys/Children's Products at Toys "R" Us Stores

- 20.3% (14/69) of all toys tested contained tin, indicating the likely presence of organotins.
- 5.8% (4/69) of all toys tested contained low levels of lead, indicating progress by Toys "R" Us and its suppliers in reducing the use of lead in PVC toys.
- 1.4% (1/69) of toys contained low levels of cadmium, indicating progress by Toys "R" Us and suppliers in reducing the use of cadmium in PVC toys.

PVC and Organotins in Toys for Infants and Young Children

- 67% of the fall 2010 toys for infants 3 to 12 months and up in age contained chlorine, indicating the toy was likely made of PVC. 17% of those age-group toys contained tin, indicating likely use of organotins.
- 81% of the fall 2010 toys for children 18 to 36 months and up in age contained chlorine, indicating the toy was likely made of PVC. 19% of those age-group toys contained tin, indicating likely use of organotins.
- 62% of the fall 2010 toys for children 4 to 6 years and up in age contained chlorine, indicating the toy was likely made of PVC. 46% of those age-group toys contained tin, indicating likely use of organotins.

PVC in Toy Packaging at Toys "R" Us Stores

- 51 toy-packaging materials were tested.
- 52.9% (27/51) of all the toy packaging tested contained high levels of chlorine, indicating they were most likely made out of PVC. Most of them were not labeled as such.

Chemical Additives in Toy Packaging at Toys "R" Us Stores

• 52.9% (27/51) of all the toy packaging tested contained tin, indicating the presence of organotins.

- 5.9% (3/51) of all the packaging tested contained lead, indicating progress in reducing the use of lead in PVC packaging.
- None of the packaging materials contained detectable levels of cadmium, indicating progress by Toys "R" Us and suppliers in reducing the use of cadmium in PVC packaging.

Toys Made in China

• 98% of the toys in the fall 2010 testing were made in China

Inadequate Labeling of Toys and Packaging

- In the fall 2010 testing, only one of the 60 products was labeled as containing PVC. This label was hidden under cardboard packaging and evident only after purchase.
- None of the products we tested were labeled as containing organotins, lead or cadmium.
- Of the toy packaging, 91% had no markings or labels that could help a consumer identify the plastic. Only two packages had a PVC marking, but this was on the bottom, hard to see and required extensive inspection.

Toys that tested positive for PVC include Barbie, Toy Story 3 Woody and Buzz Lightyear figures, Disney Princess Royal Giggles doll, Zhu Zhu Pets Hamster Hangout, Nickelodeon's Dora the Explorer and Diego figures, Sesame Street Elmo Faucet Cover, Club Penguin figurines, Imaginext toddler action figures and many others, from dolls and balls, to baby bath time toys and products, and even My Name Sippy Cups.

Progress in Removing Lead from Toys and Packaging

The results of the study indicate that toy manufacturers and retailers like Toys "R" Us have made progress in reducing, though not eliminating, the use of lead in children's toys. The Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act (CPSIA) passed in 2008 also had a significant impact in reducing the use of lead in the global toy supply chain. We found 5.8% of all the toys and children's products we tested contained lead and 1.4% contained cadmium. Similarly, 5.9% of the packaging we tested contained lead and none of the packaging samples we tested contained cadmium. This is certainly good news for parents concerned about purchasing toys that may pose health risks for their children.

The Toxic Shell Game: Organotins Used to Replace Lead and Cadmium

Both rounds of testing found elevated levels of tin in a significant portion of the PVC toys and packaging we tested, indicating the likely use of organotins to stabilize the products. Organotins were introduced to replace toxic metal stabilizers like lead and cadmium, but they have also been found to leach from PVC products.^{107,108} The organotins are also toxic (see Chapter 1 for a discussion of the hazards of organotins).

Whether it's organotins or lead, these and other additives are needed to make PVC toys, packaging or other products. Without the additives, PVC cannot be made into toys or other

products. The additives make the product. The best approach to avoiding the various toxic additives is to avoid toys and products made of PVC.

Limitations of Testing

Our investigation did not test nearly all of the thousands of products sold by Toys "R" Us. Nor did we test from a wide range of different locations. Our tests samples were collected from one store located in Ann Arbor, Mich. and two stores in suburban Maryland. We were also not able to directly measure for the presence of PVC or organotins. However, we are confident that the presence of high concentrations of chlorine indicates the presence of PVC as there are very few plastic types that contain chlorine. We also found a substantial percentage of toys and packaging containing tin, indicating the presence of organotins. We did not measure the migration of organotins, lead and cadmium from the toys or packaging materials. Since the XRF analyzer penetrates about ¼ inch into plastic, these measurements should be considered a surface or near-surface measurement.

Our investigation did not test for the presence of phthalates, which are hazardous chemical additives common in PVC products. Toys "R" Us has pledged to phase out the use of phthalates in their products, and Congress has banned certain phthalates in children's toys. We were not able to ascertain Toys "R" Us' compliance with these initiatives. We also did not test for other hazardous chemicals that have been found in children's and infant products such as bisphenol A. This investigation does not provide a measure of health risk or chemical exposure associated with any individual product, or any individual element or related chemical.

Chapter 5: Inadequate Labeling and Lack of Transparency

Most of the Toys "R" Us toys we found to be made out of PVC were not labeled as such on the product or packaging. In the fall 2010 testing, only one of the 60 products was labeled as containing PVC. This label was hidden under cardboard packaging and evident only after purchase. None of the products were labeled as containing organotins. This makes it nearly impossible for parents to identify what materials toys are made out of and make informed decisions for the health of their families.

Online Review of ToysRUs.com

We conducted an online search on October 21, 2010 to determine whether one can identify PVC and PVC-free products through the Toys "R" Us website. The Toys "R" Us' online catalog can be searched by using various keywords. We searched the website using the terms "PVC-free," "PVC" and "All." The search engine is case-insensitive.

Online Search Term	Items Recovered
PVC-free	10
PVC	36 (including 10 PVC-
	free)
All (possible products)	6,211

While there are more than 6,000 products accessible online, only 36 were labeled as "PVC" or "PVC-free." Of the toys we tested, however, 72.5% of toys/children's products contained high levels of chlorine indicating that they were most likely made out of PVC.

Online Review of Babies "R" Us

We conducted a similar online search on the Babies "R" Us website on October 21, 2010. We found:

Online Search Term	Items Recovered
PVC-free	10
PVC	11 (including the PVC-
	free)
All	507

While there are more than 500 products available online, our random search only found one product that was labeled as being made with "PVC" and another 10 products that were labeled as being "PVC-free."

Discussion of Online Searches

Toys "R" Us prides itself in being "a leader in web search results for toys and baby goods, driving increased traffic to the company's e-commerce businesses and providing parents and gift givers with a wide assortment of the most sought-after products."¹⁰⁹ As parents can readily

access Toys "R" Us and related companies' online catalogs, consumers can easily find information on the price, availability, photos, customer reviews and key characteristics. There is no reason why Toys "R" Us cannot incorporate information regarding which toys do and do not contain PVC on its website. As our recent toy testing has shown, the lack of a PVC label does not mean the product is PVC-free.

By failing to label PVC plastic products as such, Toys "R" Us is denying parents the right to know what is in the products they buy for their children.

Chapter 6: The Dangers of PVC Used to Manufacture Toys "R" Us Toys

The manufacture and disposal of PVC products such as toys poses environmental health hazards to communities and workers in and near plants. These next two chapters discuss some of these hazards and why it's important to eliminate PVC in toys and packaging. Eliminating PVC in toys and children's products will reduce the need for PVC and lower the production and manufacture of PVC. This will result in fewer workers being exposed to hazardous chemicals generated during production and less toxic pollution in communities located near production facilities.

The Production of PVC Involves Cancer-Causing Chemicals

PVC toys and packaging are made from toxic chlorinated chemicals. Three chemicals are at the core of PVC production: chlorine gas is converted into ethylene dichloride (EDC), which is then converted into vinyl chloride monomer (VCM), which is then converted into PVC.¹¹⁰

Vinyl chloride is one of the highest production volume chemicals in the world, with a current worldwide demand of roughly 16 billion pounds annually.¹¹¹ Approximately 98% of all vinyl chloride produced is used to make PVC.¹¹² Vinyl chloride is one of the few chemicals the U.S. EPA classifies as a known human carcinogen.¹¹³ Vinyl chloride causes a rare form of liver cancer and damages the liver and central nervous system.¹¹⁴ Vinyl chloride is classified as a human carcinogen by the International Agency for Research on Cancer and the U.S. National Toxicology Program.^{115, 116}

Ethylene dichloride is a probable human carcinogen that also affects the central nervous system and damages the liver.¹¹⁷ According to the EPA, "Inhalation of concentrated ethylene dichloride vapor can induce effects on the human nervous system, liver, and kidneys, as well as respiratory distress, cardiac arrhythmia, nausea, and vomiting. Chronic (long-term) inhalation exposure to ethylene dichloride produced effects on the liver and kidneys in animals...Decreased fertility and increased embryo mortality have been observed in inhalation studies of rats."¹¹⁸

While children are not exposed to EDC and VCM in the finished product, these chemicals are hazardous to the workers and surrounding communities, but not to children handling the packaging or toys.

The Production of PVC Poses Workplace Hazards

Workers in plants that manufacture PVC or its feedstocks receive the highest exposures to vinyl chloride and ethylene dichloride in workplace air.^{119,120} PVC workers are also regularly exposed to toxic phthalates such as di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP), which are used to soften or plasticize PVC products.¹²¹ According to the National Toxicology Program, "workers may be exposed to relatively high concentrations during the compounding of DEHP with PVC resins. The major route of exposure is inhalation."¹²² Studies have documented links between working in PVC facilities and the increased likelihood of developing diseases including angiosarcoma, a rare form of liver cancer, ¹²³ brain cancer, ¹²⁴ lung and liver cancer, ^{125,126} lymphomas, leukemia, and liver cirrhosis.¹²⁷ One recent study by researchers at the CDC, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) and the University of Cincinnati found PVC workers are exposed to high levels of phthalates. Workers in the PVC film and compounding sectors had

the highest exceedances over the U.S. reference dose for the phthalate DEHP.¹²⁸ In addition to chronic diseases, PVC workers face hazards from accidents and explosions at PVC manufacturing plants.^{129,130}

PVC Chemical Plants Release Carcinogens into the Air

Each year, PVC plants in the U.S. pump some 500,000 pounds of vinyl chloride—a known human carcinogen—and many other toxins into the atmosphere.^{131,132} All across the world, PVC manufacturers release vinyl chloride into the air. Dioxin is released into the atmosphere from the production and eventual disposal of PVC in incinerators, backyard burn barrels or accidental landfill fires.^{133,134} When its entire lifecycle is considered, PVC appears to be associated with the release of more dioxin than any other single product.¹³⁵

PVC: Major User of Mercury Globally

Mercury is primarily used to produce chlorine gas, and in China and Russia, mercury is also used to make vinyl chloride monomer, the basic building block of PVC.¹³⁶ This use accounts for an astonishing 20% of global mercury consumption (700 tons), the second-largest sector globally.¹³⁷ Mercury is a potent neurological and reproductive toxin that accumulates primarily as methyl mercury in aquatic food chains.¹³⁸ The PVC chemical industry's use of mercury has been increasing in recent years. In 2002, the Chinese PVC industry used 354 tons of mercury.¹³⁹ Within two years, that had increased to 610 tons, growing at an annual rate of 31.4%. It's been estimated that mercury usage will continue to increase to more than 1,000 tons by 2010.¹⁴⁰ China is the world's biggest user and emitter of mercury.¹⁴¹ Within China, the single biggest users of mercury are the factories turning coal into PVC.¹⁴²

PVC Packaging Contaminates and Ruins Recyclable Plastics

This investigation found PVC was prevalent in the packaging of toys sold at Toys "R" Us. PVC packaging has a national recycling rate far lower than other plastics. Just 0.7% of PVC bottles were recycled in 2006, compared to 23.5% for PET plastic bottles and 26.4% for HDPE bottles.¹⁴³ According to the Association of Postconsumer Plastics Recyclers, "PVC is a major contaminant to the PET bottle recycling stream."¹⁴⁴ One PVC bottle can contaminate and ruin a recycling load of 100,000 recyclable PET bottles, if the PVC cannot be separated from the PET.¹⁴⁵

Chapter 7: PVC Toys and Dioxin - One of the Most Toxic Chemicals

Dioxin is the name given to a group of persistent, very toxic chemicals that are not deliberately manufactured but are byproducts of industrial processes that use or burn chlorine, such as the manufacture and disposal of PVC.¹⁴⁶ The most toxic form of dioxin is 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin or TCDD.¹⁴⁷ TCDD is more commonly recognized as the toxic contaminant found in Agent Orange and at Love Canal in New York.

PVC toys and packaging such as those sold by Toys "R" Us can release dioxin into the environment during both the manufacture and disposal of these PVC materials.^{157,158,159,160} However, children are not exposed to dioxin when they handle the toys or the packaging.

Dioxin has been targeted for global phase out by the Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, an international treaty signed by more than 140 nations around the world.¹⁶¹ Dioxin has also been targeted for virtual elimination in the Great Lakes through the U.S. and Canadian Great Lakes Binational Toxics Strategy.¹⁶²

Cancer-Causing Impacts

Dioxin causes a wide array of adverse health effects in both animals and humans.¹⁶³ Dioxin is a potent cancercausing agent and is considered to be a "human carcinogen" by the World Health Organization's International Agency for Research on Cancer¹⁶⁴ and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services' National Toxicology Program.¹⁶⁵

PVC Toys, Dioxin and Our Food – What's the Connection?

According to the EPA, more than 96 percent of human exposure to dioxin occurs through the diet, primarily foods derived from animals.¹⁴⁸ Dioxin in air released by the burning of chlorinated products like PVC in incinerators, backyard burn barrels and other sources settles onto soil, water and plant surfaces.^{149,150,151,152} It does not readily break down in the environment and over time accumulates in the grazing animals that eat these plants. People then ingest the dioxin contained in meat, dairy products and eggs.¹⁵³ Some exposure also results from eating dioxin-contaminated fish. Dioxin exposure of the general population is a problem of cumulative emissions from many sources.¹⁵⁴

In 2010, the EPA released a proposed reference dose (RfD) for dioxin.¹⁵⁵ According to the Environmental Working Group, "EWG analysis of data from peer-reviewed scientific reports has found that a breast-fed infant three to six months old, with an average weight of 16 pounds, consumes up to 77 times more dioxin and dioxin-like compounds than the EPA's proposed safe daily dose (RfD)."¹⁵⁶

According to the U.S. EPA draft report on dioxin's health effects, the levels of dioxin-like compounds found in the general population may cause a lifetime cancer risk as high as one in 1,000.¹⁶⁶ This is 1,000 times higher than the generally acceptable risk level of one in a million. The human epidemiological evidence provides consistent findings of increased risk for all cancers combined and lung cancer in occupational studies as well as evidence of tissue specific increases in cancer.^{167,168}

Non-Cancer Impacts of Dioxin

Dioxin also causes a wide range of non-cancer effects including reproductive, developmental, immunological, and endocrine effects in both animals and humans.¹⁶⁹ Animal studies show that dioxin exposure is associated with endometriosis, decreased fertility, inability to carry pregnancies to term, lowered testosterone levels, decreased sperm counts, birth defects and learning disabilities.^{170,171,172,173,174,175,176,177,178,179,180} In children, dioxin exposure has been associated with IQ deficits, delays in psychomotor and neurodevelopment, and altered behavior including hyperactivity.^{181,182,183,184,185,186} Studies in workers have found lowered testosterone levels, decreased testis size, and birth defects in offspring of Vietnam veterans exposed to Agent Orange.^{187,188,189}

Dioxin and the Immune System

Effects on the immune system of the developing organism appear to be among the most sensitive endpoints studied. Animal studies show that dioxin decreased immune response and increased susceptibility to infectious disease.^{190,191,192,193,194} In human studies, dioxin was associated with immune system depression and alterations in immune status leading to increased infections.^{195,196} Dioxin can also disrupt the normal function of hormones—chemical messengers that the body uses for growth and regulation. Dioxin interferes with thyroid levels in infants and adults, alters glucose tolerance and has been linked to diabetes.^{197,198,199,200,201}

Burning PVC Leads to Dioxin Formation

A major concern about PVC is the formation of dioxin whenever it is burned. This is due to the relationship between PVC, chlorine and dioxin.^{202,203,204,205} PVC is a significant source of the chlorine necessary for dioxin formation during the combustion of municipal and household waste in incinerators, burn barrels, landfills and open dumps.^{206,207,208,209} PVC is the leading contributor of chlorine to four combustion sources: municipal solid waste incinerators; backyard burn barrels; medical waste incinerators; and secondary copper smelters that account for an estimated 80% of dioxin air emissions.²¹⁰ The strongest evidence of dioxin formation during combustion comes from laboratory studies showing that PVC content in the waste stream fed to incinerator ash.^{211,212,213,214} More than 100 municipal waste incinerators in the U.S. burn 500 to 600 million pounds of PVC each year, forming highly toxic dioxin and releasing toxic additives to the air and in ash disposed of on land.²¹⁵ Dioxin also forms when PVC products and materials are burned in accidental building and vehicle fires.^{216,217,218}

Dumping PVC in Landfills Leaches Chemicals and Forms Dioxin

The land disposal of PVC plastic waste, especially flexible materials, also poses environmental and public health risks.²¹⁹ Land disposal is the final fate of between 2 and 4 billion pounds of PVC that are discarded every year at some 1,800 municipal waste landfills in the U.S.²²⁰ As flexible PVC degrades in a landfill, toxic additives like organotins, lead, cadmium and phthalates leach out of the waste into groundwater, which is especially problematic for unlined

landfills.^{221,222,223,224} These additives also contribute to the formation of landfill gases, which are formed in municipal waste landfills.^{225,226,227} There are more than 8,400 landfill fires reported every year in the U.S.²²⁸ These fires burn PVC waste and contribute to dioxin formation.²²⁹ In its most recent dioxin inventory, the EPA estimated U.S. accidental landfill fires may annually contribute as much as 1,126 grams TEQ of dioxin into the ambient air.²³⁰

Chapter 8: Policy and Consumer Recommendations

<u>Based on our investigation, Toys "R" Us and companies that supply them with toys and packaging should implement the following actions:</u>

- Phase out PVC toys and packaging and switch to safer materials;
- Set clear public benchmarks and timeframes for implementing this phase out;
- Publicly report on its progress in phasing out PVC;
- In the interim, eliminate the purchase of products and packaging that contain organotins and other hazardous chemical additives in toys and children's products;
- Label the material content of toys so that consumers can easily identify safer products. Toys made with PVC should be labeled "made with PVC." Toys made without PVC should be labeled "PVC-free." By requiring all PVC products to be labeled, consumers can readily identify which products contain PVC and its additives and which are safe to purchase; and
- Update its online catalog with information about which toys contain PVC and those that are "PVC-free"

Governments at all levels should implement the following actions:

- Act quickly to adopt policies to protect consumers and ban the use of PVC in toys and children's products;
- Require warning labels on PVC toys. Labeling would encourage product manufacturers to switch to safer products to avoid labeling requirements;
- Require that PVC toys and other PVC products be collected and diverted from incinerators and burn barrels to reduce the formation of dioxin;
- Treat PVC as a hazardous material that should be separated from regular household waste and disposed in a safe manner. As an interim measure, PVC could be disposed of in "secure" triple-lined hazardous waste landfills; and
- Conduct a public campaign to educate consumers about the risks posed by PVC products such as toys.

Testing for Phthalates in Toys

We recommend the federal government, perhaps the Consumer Product Safety Commission, conduct an investigation into whether Toys "R" Us and other retailers have reduced or eliminated the use of phthalates in children's toys.

The Need for Federal Policy Reform

PVC and organotins in toys and packaging is one of many examples of the need to reform federal law to protect consumers. As toy manufacturers and retailers have removed lead from PVC toys, they have merely swapped one toxic hazard, lead, for another, organotins. The presence of organotins in toys underscores the need for much broader chemical policy reform. Federal policymakers should reform America's outdated chemical policies that are failing to protect families from toxic chemicals already on the market that are released in our homes. The

federal law regulating industrial chemicals, the Toxic Substances Control Act (TSCA), is 30 years old, outdated, and simply does not work to protect people and the environment. Of the 62,000 chemicals on the market at the time TSCA passed in 1976, the EPA has only required testing on about 200; and it has only regulated five.

Legislation to revamp the 34-year-old TSCA has been introduced in the U.S. Senate and House of Representatives. Sen. Frank Lautenberg (D-NJ) sponsored S. 3209, the Safe Chemicals Act of 2010, and Reps. Bobby Rush (D-IL) and Henry Waxman (D-CA) have unveiled H.R. 5820, the Toxic Chemicals Safety Act of 2010.²³¹ TSCA is the outdated law widely acknowledged to have failed in its goal of protecting people and the environment from toxic chemicals in consumer products. The long-awaited, landmark legislation would overhaul the way the federal government regulates chemicals commonly found in our homes, workplaces and communities.

Under the new legislation, chemical manufacturers would have to provide basic health and safety information for chemicals and also demonstrate a chemical's safety in order to keep it on the market. The bills specify a standard of safety that explicitly protects pregnant women, children, and other vulnerable populations. The worst of the worst chemicals—those that build up in the food chain—would be targeted for immediate reduction. Product manufacturers and retailers that already work to reduce toxic chemicals would be given new information to help them achieve their goals. The EPA would also be given a new mandate to identify communities especially hard-hit by toxic chemicals—"hot spots"—and develop action plans to return them to health.

Tips for Parents

- Avoid toys made with PVC, as well as other PVC products, especially those that are flexible. These products are not always labeled, although some may be labeled as "vinyl" or "PVC."
- Purchase PVC-free toys made out of safer materials—such as sustainably harvested wood or plastics that pose fewer environmental health hazards.
- To identify PVC packaging, first look for the universal recycling symbol. If it has the number "3" inside it, or the letters "V" or "PVC" underneath it, you know the product is made out of PVC.
- Some products are not properly labeled, making it impossible to determine whether they contain PVC. If you're uncertain, e-mail or call the 1-800 number of the manufacturer or retailer and ask what type of plastic their product is made of. You have the right to know.

Appendix A: X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) Testing Methodology

The toys were tested by the Ecology Center in Ann Arbor, Mich. using a portable X-ray Fluorescence (XRF) analyzer. XRFs are widely used by both product manufacturers and government regulators to screen consumer products for hazardous chemicals. XRFs, like all test methods, have limitations. These hand-held devices have been used for years to measure the presence of lead and other metals and elements in homes and consumer products without destroying the sample being analyzed.^{232,233,234,235} The following is an overview of the product testing methodology.

XRF Testing Methodology

Products were tested using a handheld X-ray fluorescence (XRF) device manufactured by Innov-X Systems. The XRF analyzer uses a technology known as X-ray fluorescence spectrometry to measure the atomic composition of material. It can detect chemical elements, such as chlorine, lead, cadmium, arsenic, mercury, tin and antimony. A simple description of how the analyzer works is provided by the Ecology Center on their website.²³⁶ Abstracts of scientific papers describing the use of the XRF analyzer is also provided on their website.²³⁷

The elemental composition of the materials reveals the presence of potentially hazardous chemicals, such as metals, and allows researchers to infer the possible presence of toxic chemicals or materials, including polyvinyl chloride (PVC). There are a number of chemicals of concern that cannot be detected by this technology, such as phthalate plasticizers and bisphenol A (BPA).

The exact XRF device sampling protocol is described below.

XRF Calibration - XRF machines were calibrated at the beginning of each round of sampling using the stainless steel clip, as well as the EC681 standard. Both calibrations were done once with a test length of 60 seconds. Results were compared to known levels in the sample. During testing, a standardization was taken after every 200 readings, using both the stainless steel clip and the EC681 standard. In addition, one time standardization was performed with Wako Chemical USA ABS discs with cadmium, chromium, lead in high and low concentrations (NMIJ CRM 8106-a & NMIJ CRM 8105-a) and PVC disk standards (low and high concentrations). This can lead to an averaging of the chemicals of concern when near-surface materials are nonhomogenous. This may lead to an underestimation of the level of chemicals of concern in a product.

Testing - Standard testing time was 30 seconds. The XRF machine was preset to test for the full 30 seconds. Only one test was taken per component/material of a product. An attempt was made to sample major components/materials of each product. Some toys were analyzed more or less than others based on the design of the product. Because the X-ray penetrates to 1/4 inch for plastics and other softer substrates, the measurement should be considered a surface or near surface measurement.

Background Sampling - Prior to the start of testing, a background sample was taken with the XRF analyzer. The same background was used for all samples. When backgrounds were used

they were free of all chemicals of concern.

Machine Positioning - When sampling, the XRF machine was held in a position perpendicular to the product being tested, without compressing the material. Tests were conducted on the flattest part of the product, and the entire analyzer window was covered by the material being tested, when possible. Products were not dismantled to test interiors.

Element	Manufacturers Detection Limits (<u>1</u>)	Observed Detection Limits (30 second sample)(<u>2</u>)
Antimony	50-150 ppm	109 ppm
Arsenic	10-100 ppm	1 ppm
Bromine	10-100 ppm	2 ppm
Cadmium	50-150 ppm	61 ppm
Chlorine	1% - 5%	2.80%
Chromium	10-100 ppm	39 ppm
Cobalt	10-100 ppm	37 ppm
Copper	10-100 ppm	38 ppm
Lead	10-100 ppm	5 ppm
Mercury	10-100 ppm	7 ppm
Nickel	10-100 ppm	27 ppm
Tin	50-150 ppm	130 ppm

Levels of Detection (LODs) – Up to 25 elements were analyzed in each sample. The Levels of Detection (LODs) for selected elements measured in the testing are as follows:

(1) InnovX Model ABC XRF Detector detection estimates based on 1-2 minute test times and detection confidence of 3-sigma, or 99.7% confidence. Detection limits are a function of testing time, sample matrix and presence of interfering elements.

(2) Observed detection limits varied by type of material being tested. Detection limits presented here are the lowest observed from all testing.

Quality Assurance/Product Variation - In order to evaluate the variation per product to assess and verify the accuracy of our testing, some repeat samples were taken. This process took place once every 200 samples, and was done for at least one product in every product category. Repeat samples are taken in three different ways:

- 1. Three readings taken from the same sampling location of one product.
- 2. Three readings taken from three different sampling locations (consisting of the same material, color, etc.) on the same product.
- 3. Three readings taken from the same sampling location on three different but identical products.

All repeat sample data was recorded and submitted for review.

Data Interpretation - The results were interpreted using the concentrations and deviations

reported by the analyzer, together with visual examination of the spectra generated by the instrument. The analyzer reports concentrations of elements by analyzing the spectra using reference data for the elements it reports, and measuring the area under the curve in the spectrum. We visually examined the spectra to confirm the presence of elements with known interferences (lead, bromine and arsenic) and have not reported them where we could not confirm presence. We report the highest level detected for each chemical of concern in the product as a whole (regardless of how many components the product has).

Methodological Limitations

The levels of lead, cadmium, chlorine and other elements shown in this report are those reported by the XRF analyzer manufactured by Innov-X Systems, Inc. Our testing methodology uses standards with known levels of certain elements to check the accuracy of the analyzer in one type of matrix material. However, the products we tested are made of many different types of materials, in some cases even within the same product. The presence of materials may interfere with the analyzer's ability to quantify the elements accurately. When the materials in a single product are not homogeneous, the test results may vary depending on the orientation between the object under test and the testing device. Where the testing is not able to isolate a single material, the reported levels may represent an averaging of the levels in the different materials. Interferences can occur between elements as well, such as with lead and arsenic, resulting in poorer precision. Test results are reviewed for possible inference.

Therefore, the levels we report provide a general indication of the levels in the products in order to guide consumers on product choices. More exhaustive testing with the XRF, as well as laboratory testing, could provide more detailed findings on the levels of elements and associated compounds.

References

¹ Quevauviller, P. 1991. Leaching of organotin compounds from poly(vinyl chloride) (PVC) material. *Applied Organometallic Chemistry* Volume 5, Issue 2, pages 125–129, March/April.

⁴ Lester, S. and M. Belliveau. 2004. *PVC: Bad news comes in threes. The poison plastic, health hazards and the looming waste crisis.* Falls Church, VA: Center for Health, Environment and Justice, December. Online: <u>http://besafenet.com/pvc/documents/bad news comes in threes.pdf</u> (20 October 2010).

⁵ Costner, P. 2001. *Chlorine, combustion and dioxin: Does reducing chlorine in wastes decrease dioxin formation in waste incinerators?* Greenpeace International, September 10. Online: http://www.greenpeace.org/raw/content/ international/press/reports/chlorine-combustion-and- diox.pdf (6 October 2010).

⁶ Costner, P. 1997. *The burning question – chlorine & dioxin*. Greenpeace. Online:

http://www.pvcinformation.org/links/go.php?linkid=48&catid= (22 October 2010).

⁷ Thornton, J. 1997. *Dioxin from cradle to grave*. Greenpeace. Online:

http://www.pvcinformation.org/links/go.php?linkid=33&catid= (31 October 2010).

⁸ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-

Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk

characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds. USEPA, Office of Research and Development, NAS Review Draft, December.

⁹ Landrigan, P. et al. Children's health and the environment: a new agenda for preventive research.

Environmental Health Perspectives June. Vol. 106, Supplement 3: 787–794.

¹⁰ Muir, T. and Zegarac, M. 2001. Societal costs of exposure to toxic substances: economic and health costs of four case studies that are candidates for environmental causation. *Environmental Health Perspectives Supplements* Volume 109, Number S6, December.

¹¹ Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 2010. "Asthma." Online: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/HealthyYouth/asthma/</u> (7 November 2010).

¹² Wallis, C. 2009. "New Studies See A Higher Rate Of Autism: Is The Jump Real?" *Time Magazine*, October 5. Online: <u>http://www.time.com/time/health/article/0,8599,1927824,00.html</u> (22 October 2010).

¹³ Landrigan, P. 2004. *Environmental health threats to children: a look at the facts*. INFORM. Online: <u>http://www.informinc.org/enchil.pdf</u> (22 October 2010).

¹⁴ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2003. America's children and the environment: measures of contaminants, body burdens, and illnesses. Online:

http://www.eric.ed.gov/ERICDocs/data/ericdocs2sql/content_storage_01/0000019b/80/1b/46/e5.pdf (22 October 2010).

¹⁵ Landrigan, P. 2004.

¹⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2009. "Childhood Overweight and Obesity." Online: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/childhood/index.html</u> (22 October 2010).

¹⁷ Steingraber, S. 2007. *The falling age of puberty in U.S. girls: what we know, what we need to know.* The Breast Cancer Fund. *Online: <u>http://www.breastcancerfund.org/atf/cf/%7BDE68F7B2-5F6A-4B57-9794-</u>*

AFE5D27A3CFF%7D/The%20Falling%20Age%20of%20Puberty%20report.pdf (22 October 2010).

¹⁸ Latini, G. et al. 2003. *In Utero* exposure to Di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate and human pregnancy duration. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 111:1783-1785.

¹⁹ Environmental Working Group. 2005. *Body Burden – the pollution in newborns*. Washington, DC. July 14. Online: <u>http://www.ewg.org/reports/bodyburden2/execsumm.php</u> (21 October 2010).

²⁰ Kannan, K. et. al. 1999. Occurrence of butyl tin compounds in human blood. *Environmental Science & Technology* 33: 1776-1779.

²¹ Kannan, K. et al. 2010. Organotin compounds, including butyltins and octyltins, in house dust from Albany, New York, USA. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* Volume 58, Number 4, 901-907, DOI: 10.1007/s00244-010-9513-6 Online: <u>http://www.springerlink.com/content/04233043258725u0/export-citation/</u> (24 October 2010).

² Hoch, M. 2001. Organotin compounds in the environment — an overview *Applied Geochemistry, Volume 16, Issues 7-8, June. Pages 719-743.*

³ Thornton, J. 2002. *Environmental impacts of polyvinyl chloride building materials – A Healthy Building Network report.* Washington, DC: Healthy Building Network. Online:

http://www.healthybuilding.net/pvc/Thornton Enviro Impacts of PVC.pdf (22 October 2010).

²² Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2005. Third national report on human exposure to environmental chemicals. Atlanta, GA: CDC.

²⁵ Wolff MS, Teitelbaum SL, Windham G, Pinney SM, Britton JA, Chelimo C, et al. 2007. Pilot study of urinary biomarkers of phytoestrogens, phthalates, and phenols in girls. Environmental Health Perspectives 115(1):116-121. ²⁶ USEPA. 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds.

²⁷ Van den Berg, M. et al. 1994. The toxicokinetics and metabolism of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins (PCDDs) and dibenzofurans (PCDFs) and their relevance for toxicity. Critical Reviews in Toxicology 24 (1): 1-74.

²⁸ Main et al. 2006. Human breast milk contamination with phthalates and alterations of endogenous reproductive hormones in infants three months of age. Environmental Health Perspectives Volume 114 (2): 270-276. doi:10.1289/ehp.8075

²⁹ Lorber, M., and Phillips, L. 2002. Infant exposure to dioxin-like compounds in breast milk. *Environmental* Health Perspectives Volume 110 (6): A325-A332, June.

³⁰ American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP). 1999. Polychlorinated biphenyls, dibenzofurans, and dibenzodioxins." In Handbook of Pediatric Environmental Health. (eds. Ruth Etzel and Sophie Balk) AAP, Elk Grove Village, IL.

³¹ World Health Organization (WH0). 1998. "Assessment of the health risks of dioxins: re-evaluation of the Tolerable Daily Intake (TDI)." Executive Summary, Final Draft. WHO Consultation of May 25-29, 1998. Geneva, WHO European Centre for Environment and Health, International Programme on Chemical Safety, December. ³² Thornton, J. 2002.

³³ Quevauviller, P. 1991. Leaching of organotin compounds from poly(vinyl chloride) (PVC) material. Applied Organometallic Chemistry Volume 5, Issue 2, pages 125–129, March/April.

³⁴ Hoch, M. 2001. Organotin compounds in the environment — an overview Applied Geochemistry, Volume 16, Issues 7-8, June. Pages 719-743.

³⁵ World Health Organization (WHO). 1980. *Tin and organotin compounds: A preliminary review*. Vol. 15 of Environmental Health Criteria. Geneva, Switzerland: International Programme on Chemical Safety.

³⁶ Ema, M. et al. 1995. Comparative developmental toxicity of butyltin trichloride, dibutyltin dichloride and tributyl chloride in rats. Journal of Applied Toxicology 15: 297-302.

³⁷ Noda, T. et al. 1993. Teratogenic effects of various di- n-butyltins with different anions and butyl(e-hydroxy butyl)tin dilaurate in rats. Toxicology 85: 149-160.

³⁸ Jenkins, SM et al. 2004. Structure-activity comparison of organotin species: dibutyltin is a developmental neurotoxicant in vitro and in vivo. Developmental Brain Research. Volume 151, Issues 1-2, 19 July 2004, Pages 1-12 Online: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15246687 24 October 2010).

³⁹ Gumy, C. et al. 2008. Dibutyltin disrupts glucocorticoid receptor function and impairs glucocorticoid-induced suppression of cytokine production. PLoS ONE 3(10): e3545. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003545 Online: http://www.plosone.org/article/info:doi/10.1371/journal.pone.0003545 (24 October 2010).

⁴⁰ KEMI (Swedish Chemicals Inspectorate). 2000. Summary of report 6/00: organotin stabilizers in PVC assessment of risks and proposals for risk reduction measures. Stockholm.

⁴¹ Boyer I. 1989. Toxicity of dibutyltin, tributyltin and other organotin compounds to humans and to experimental

animals. *Toxicology* 55: 253-298. ⁴² Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2005. *Toxicity profile for tin*. Atlanta, GA: Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services., September. Online:

http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp.asp?id=543&tid=98 (24 October 2010).

⁴³ Grun, F. et al. 2006. Endocrine-disrupting organotin compounds are potent inducers of adipogenesis in vertebrates. Molecular Endocrinology 20 (9): 2141-2155.

⁴⁴ Grün, F. and Blumberg, B. 2006. Environmental obesogens: organotins and endocrine disruption via nuclear receptor signaling. Endocrinology. 147:S50-5.

⁴⁵ Grün, F. and Blumberg, B. 2009. Mini-review: the case for obesogens. Molecular Endocrinology. 23:1127-34

⁴⁶ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2009. "Childhood Overweight and Obesity." Online: http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/childhood/index.html (22 October 2010).

Kirchner, S. Kieu T. Chow C. Casey S. Blumberg B. 2010. Prenatal exposure to the environmental obesogen tributyltin predisposes multipotent stem cells to become adipocytes. Molecular Endocrinology, 24:526-39.

²³ Ibid.

²⁴ Ibid.

⁴⁸ Hatch, E. et al. 2010. Association of endocrine disruptors and obesity: perspectives from epidemiological studies. International Journal of Andrology 33: 324–332. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2605.2009.01035.x ⁴⁹ Grun, F. et al. 2006.

⁵⁰ Ibid.

⁵¹ USEPA. 2009. *Phthalates action plan.*

⁵² Ibid.

⁵³ Australian Government. 2008. Existing chemical hazard assessment report for diethylhexyl phthalate. Department of Health and Ageing, National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme (NICNAS): Sydney, Australia, 2008 http://www.nicnas.gov.au/Publications/CAR/Other/Phthalates.asp (6 November 2010).

⁵⁴ Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2002. *Toxicity profile for di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate*. Atlanta, GA: Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, September.

⁵⁵ Latini, G. et al. 2003. In-Utero exposure to Di-(2-ethylhexyl)-phthalate and human pregnancy duration. Environmental Health Perspectives 111:1783-1785.

⁵⁶ Colón, I. Et al. 2000. Identification of phthalate esters in the serum of young Puerto Rican girls with premature breast development. Environmental Health Perspectives 108: 895-900.

⁵⁷ Duty, SM et al. 2003. The relationship between environmental exposures to phthalates and DNA damage in human sperm using the neutral comet assay. Environmental Health Perspectives 111:1164-1169.

⁵⁸ Swan, S. et al. 2005. Decrease in anogenital distance among male infants with prenatal phthalate exposure. Environmental Health Perspectives 113: 1056-1061.

⁵⁹ Jaakola, J. and Knight, T. 2008. The role of exposure to phthalates in polyvinyl chloride products in the development of asthma and allergies: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Environmental Health Perspectives. Volume 116, Number 7, July.

⁶⁰ Kolarik, B. et al. 2008. The association between phthalates in dust and allergic diseases among Bulgarian children. Environmental Health Perspectives 116(1): 98-103.

⁶¹ Norbäck D. et al. 2000. Asthma symptoms in relation to measured building dampness in upper concrete floor construction, and 2-ethyl-1-hexanol in indoor air. The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease Volume 4, Number 11, pp. 1016-1025(10).

⁶² Tuomainen, A., Seuri, M., and A. Sieppi. 2004. Indoor air quality and health problems associated with damp floor coverings in an office building. International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health 77(3): 222-226.

⁶³ Jaakkola, J.J.K., Ieromnimon, A. and M.S. Jaakkola. 2006. Interior surface materials and asthma in adults: a

population-based incident case-control study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 164(8): 742–749. ⁶⁴ National Toxicology Program Center for the Evaluation of Risks to Human Reproduction. 2006.

⁶⁵ USEPA. 2009. *Phthalates action plan.*

⁶⁶ Layton, L. 2008. "Lawmakers Agree To Ban Toxins In Children's Items." The Washington Post, July 29.

⁶⁷ Kumar, A. and Pastore, P. 2007. Lead and cadmium in soft plastic toys. *Current Science*, Vol, 93, No. 6: 818-822 September 25. Online: http://www.ias.ac.in/currsci/sep252007/818.pdf (6 November 2010).

⁶⁸ Levin, R. et al. 2008. Lead exposures in U.S. children, 2008: implications for prevention. *Environmental Health* Perspectives. 116(10): 1285-1293.

⁶⁹ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2010. "Lead in Paint, Dust and Soil – Basic Information." Online: http://www.epa.gov/opptintr/lead/pubs/leadinfo.htm#health (3 November 2010).

Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2007. ToxFaqs for lead.. Online:

http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/TF.asp?id=93&tid=22 (3 November 2010). ⁷¹ Kumar, A. and Pastore, P. 2007.

⁷² Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2008. *ToxFaqs for cadmium*. Online: <u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxfaqs/tf.asp?id=47&tid=15</u> (3 November 2010).

Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2008. Case studies in environmental medicine cadmium toxicity – What are the U.S. standards for cadmium exposure? Online:

http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/csem/cadmium/cdstandards_regulations.html (3 November 2010).

Toxics in Packaging Clearinghouse. 2010. An assessment of heavy metals in packaging: 2009 update. Brattleboro, VT. Online:

http://www.toxicsinpackaging.org/docs/assessment of heavy metals in packaging 09 update.pdf (24 October 2010).

⁷⁵ Research in China. 2010. "Abstract." Global and China Toy Industry Report, 2010. China Bi Portal. Online: http://www.researchinchina.com/Htmls/Report/2010/5923.html (4 November, 2010).

⁷⁶ EMT Worldwide. 2009. "Toy Sales Still Strong." *EMT Worldwide*. July 30, 2009. Online: <u>http://www.emtworldwide.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=26752</u> (6 November 2010).

⁷⁸ Morrison, W. M. 2009. *Health and safety concerns over U.S. imports of Chinese products: an overview.* Congressional Research Service: Washington, DC.

⁷⁹ U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission. 2010. "McDonald's Recalls Movie Themed Drinking Glasses Due To Potential Cadmium Risk." Press Release, June 4. Online:

⁸⁰ U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission. 2010. FAF Inc. Recalls Children's Necklaces Sold Exclusively at Wal-Mart Stores Due To High Levels of Cadmium." Press Release, January 29.. Online:

http://www.cpsc.gov/cpscpub/prerel/prhtml10/10127.html (6 November 2010).

⁸¹ Kavilanz, Parija. 2007. "Blame U.S. Companies For Bad Chinese Goods." CNNMoney.com. August 14, 2007.

⁸² Toys "R" Us. 2010. *Form S1/A*. Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13, 2010. Online: <u>http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1005414/000119312510189115/0001193125-10-189115-index.htm</u> (6 November 2010).

⁸³ Hoover's. 2010. "Toys "R" Us, Inc. Company profile from Hoover's." Online:

http://www.hoovers.com/company/Toys R Us Inc/rrcshi-1.html (24 October 2010).

⁸⁴ Ibid.

⁸⁵ Rosenbloom, S. 2009. "Toys 'R' Us Makes Deal for F.A.O. Schwarz." *The New York Times*. May 27.Online: http://www.nytimes.com/2009/05/28/business/28toy.html? r=1 (8 November, 2010).

⁸⁶ Wilensky, D. 2009. "Toys 'R' Us Buys Toys." *Brandweek*. September 3. Online:

http://www.brandweek.com/bw/content_display/news-and-features/direct/e3i295a6fb278def938696d6e61bf98367c (8 November , 2010).

⁸⁷ Toys "R" Us. 2010. *Form S1/A*. Filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on August 13, 2010. Online: <u>http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1005414/000119312510189115/0001193125-10-189115-index.htm</u> (6 November 2010).

88 Ibid

⁸⁹ Toys "R" Us. 2010. "About Toys "R" Us, Inc." *Toys "R" Us Corporate*. Online: <u>http://www4.toysrus.com/about</u> and also <u>http://www.toysrusinc.com/about-us/</u> (6 November 2010).

⁹⁰ Kavilanz, P. 2007. "Mattel CEO Contrite Before Senate." *CNNMoney.com* September 12. Online: http://money.cnn.com/2007/09/12/news/companies/toysafety_hearing/index.htm (6 November 2010).

⁹¹ Staff Writer. 2007. "Mattel Pledges Quick Warnings on Toys." CBS News.com September 12. Online:

http://www.cbsnews.com/stories/2007/09/11/world/main3251565.shtml (6 November 2010).

⁹² Kavilanz, P. 2007.

⁹³ Center for Health, Environment & Justice. 2006. "Company PVC policies." Falls Church, VA: Center for Health, Environment & Justice. Online: <u>http://besafenet.com/pvc/companypolicies.htm</u> (13 October 2010).

⁹⁴ Health Care Without Harm. *Health care institutions undertaking efforts to reduce polyvinyl chloride (PVC)* and/or di(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP). Online:

http://noharm.org/lib/downloads/pvc/List_of_Hosps_Reducing_PVC_DEHP.pdf (13 October 2010). ⁹⁵ Center for Health, Environment & Justice. 2006. "PVC Governmental Policies Around The World." Online: http://besafenet.com/pvc/government.htm (13 October 2010).

⁹⁶ Lee, M. 2008. *Consumer Product Safety Improvement Act of 2008:* P.L. 110-314. RL 34684; Congressional Research Service: Washington, DC.

97 Ibid.

⁹⁸ Rawlins, R. 2010. Teething on toxins: in search of regulatory solutions for toys and cosmetics. *Fordham Environ. Lit. Rev.* 2009, XX, 1-50.

⁹⁹ Becker, M. et al. 2010. Toxic chemicals in toys and children's products: limitations of current responses and recommendations for government and industry. *Environmental Science & Technology*. 2010, i44, 7986-7991.
 ¹⁰⁰ Ibid.

¹⁰¹ Toys "R" Us. 2008. "Toys "R" Us, Inc. Announces Further Enhancements To Its Stringent Product Safety Requirements." Press Release. Wayne, NJ. Online: <u>http://www1.toysrus.com/Investor/pr/021508.html</u> (24 October 2010).

¹⁰² Johnson, J. 2008. "Toys "R" Us to Eliminate PVC, Ni-Cad Batteries from Toys." *BoingBoing.com* February 19,. Online: <u>http://gadgets.boingboing.net/2008/02/19/toys-r-us-to-elimina.html</u> (6 November 2010).

⁷⁷ Research in China. 2010.

http://www.cpsc.gov/cpscpub/prerel/prhtml10/10257.html (6 November 2010).

¹⁰³ Ecology Center. 2010. "Largest-Ever Study of Chemicals in Home Improvement Products Finds Lead, Phthalates, Cadmium, Organotins and Other Harmful Ingredients." Press Release. October 19.

¹⁰⁴ Lab International. 2010. "Regulatory, Forensic, and Environmental Applications of Field Portable XRF Analysers." Online: http://www.labint-online.com/featured-articles/regulatory-forensic-and-environmentalapplications-of-field-portable-xrf-analysers/index.html (12 November 2010). ¹⁰⁵ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2000. *Testing your home for lead in paint, dust and soil*. Online:

https://mail.chej.org/exchweb/bin/redir.asp?URL=http://www.epa.gov/lead/pubs/leadtest.pdf (14 November 2010). ¹⁰⁶ Segall, B. "13 Investigates: Lead In Your Dishes." WTHR.com Online:

http://www.wthr.com/story/12465018/13-investigates-lead-in-your-dishes (14 November 201).

Quevauviller, P. 1991. Leaching of organotin compounds from poly(vinyl chloride) (PVC) material. Applied Organometallic Chemistry Volume 5, Issue 2, pages 125–129, March/April.

¹⁰⁸ Hoch, M. Organotin compounds in the environment — an overview Applied Geochemistry, Volume 16, Issues 7-8, June. Pages 719-743.

¹⁰⁹ Toys "R" Us. 2010. "R" Portfolio of Online Brands," Online: http://www.toysrusinc.com/our-brands/portfolio/ (31 October 2010).

¹¹⁰ Thornton, J. 2002.

(*update*). Atlanta, GA: Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. ¹¹² Ibid. ¹¹¹ Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2006. Toxicological profile for vinvl chloride

¹¹³ Ibid.

¹¹⁴ Kielhorn, J. et al. 2000. Vinyl chloride: still a cause for concern. Environmental Health Perspectives 108(7): 579-588, July.

¹¹⁵ Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2006.

¹¹⁶ National Toxicology Program (NTP). 2005. 11th report on carcinogens (Roc). Washington, DC: US Department of Health and Human Services. Online: http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/?objectid=035E5806-F735-FE81-FF769DFE5509AF0A (22 October 2010).

¹¹⁷ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2007. *Ethylene dichloride (1,2-dichloroethane) fact sheet.* USEPA Technology Transfer Network Air Toxics Website, November 6. Online:

http://www.epa.gov/ttn/atw/hlthef/di-ethan.html (22 October 2010).

¹¹⁸ Ibid.

¹¹⁹ Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2006.

¹²⁰ Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2001. Toxicological profile for 1,2-

dichloroethane. Atlanta, GA: Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

¹²¹ National Toxicology Program Center for the Evaluation of Risks to Human Reproduction. 2006.

¹²² Ibid.

¹²³ Creech, J. and M. Johnson. 1974. Angiosarcoma of liver in the manufacture of polyvinyl chloride. Journal of Occupational Medicine 16: 150-151.

¹²⁴ Lewis, R. et al. 2002. A case-control study of angiosarcoma of the liver and brain cancer at a polymer production plant. *Journal of Occupational Medicine* 45: 538-545. ¹²⁵ Mastrangelo, G. 2003. Lung cancer risk in workers exposed to poly(vinyl chloride) dust: a nested case-referent

study. Occupational and Environmental Medicine 60: 423-428.

¹²⁶ Gennaro, V. et al. 2003. Reanalysis of mortality in a petrochemical plant producing vinyl chloride and polyvinyl chloride. Epidemiologia E Prevenzione 27: 221-225.

¹²⁷ Ibid.

¹²⁸ Hines, C. et al. 2009. Estimated daily intake of phthalates in occupationally exposed groups. *Journal of* Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology Online: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20010977 (22 October 2010).

¹²⁹ Steingraber, S. 2005. "The Pirates of Illiopolis." Orion Magazine, May/June. Online:

http://www.orionmagazine.org/index.php/articles/article/153/ (21 October 2010).

¹³⁰ U.S. Chemical Safety Board. 2007. "CSB Issues Final Report And Safety Video On Formosa Plastics Explosion in Illinois, Concludes That Company and Previous Owner Did Not Adequately Plan For Consequences Of Human Error." Press Release, March 6.

¹³¹ Earthjustice. 2008. "Groups Head To Court To Seek Protection From PVC Plant Pollution." Press Release.
 October 22. Online: <u>http://www.earthjustice.org/news/press/2008/groups-head-to-court-to-seek-protection-from-pvc-plant-pollution.html</u> (21 October 2010).
 ¹³² Subra, W. 2002. *Environmental impacts in communities adjacent to PVC production facilities*. New Iberia, LA:

¹³² Subra, W. 2002. *Environmental impacts in communities adjacent to PVC production facilities.* New Iberia, LA: Subra Company. Online: <u>http://www.pvcinformation.org/links/go.php?linkid=76&catid</u>= (31 October 2010).

¹³³ Costner, P. 1997. *The burning question – chlorine & dioxin*. Greenpeace. Online: http://www.pvcinformation.org/links/go.php?linkid=48&catid= (22 October 2010).

¹³⁴ USEPA. 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds.

¹³⁵ Thornton, J. 2002.

¹³⁶ Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC). 2006. *NRDC submission to United Nations Environment Programme in response to March 2006 request for information on mercury supply, demand and trade.* Online: <u>http://www.zeromercury.org/UNEP_developments/060516UNEPTRADESUBMISSIONMAY2006.pdf</u> (28 March 2010).

¹³⁷ Bailey, M. 2007. "Global Sources Of Mercury Pollution: What They Are And What We Can Do." Powerpoint presentation. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Office of International Affairs. Online:

http://www.ecos.org/files/2760 file Global Mercury presentation for ECOS 4 07.ppt (28 March 2010). ¹³⁸ National Academy of Sciences (NAS). 2000. *Toxicological effects of Methylmercury*. Committee on the Toxicological Effects of Methylmercury, Board on Environmental Studies and Toxicology, Commission on Life Sciences National Research Council, Washington, DC.

¹³⁹ Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC). 2006.

¹⁴⁰ Ibid.

¹⁴¹ Toloken, S. 2010. "Coal as Feedstock Challenging China." *Plastics News*. June 28. Online:

http://plasticsnews.com/headlines2.html?id=10062800601&q=mercury (24 October 2010).

¹⁴² Ibid.

¹⁴³ American Chemistry Council. 2007. 2006 United States national post-consumer plastics bottle recycling report. Arlington, VA. Online: <u>http://www.americanchemistry.com/s_plastics/sec_content.asp?CID=1593&did=7094</u> (20 October 2010).

¹⁴⁴ Beck, R. W. 1999. *Final report: PVC cost survey*. Associated of Postconsumer Plastics Recyclers.

¹⁴⁵ Anderson, P. 2004. *Message in a bottle: the impacts of PVC on plastics recycling*. A Report to the GrassRoots Recycling Network from Recycle Worlds Consulting, June. Online:

http://www.grrn.org/assets/pdfs/pvc/PVCBottleRecyclingReport06162004.pdf (20 October 2010).

¹⁴⁶ Birnbaum, L. and W. Farland. 2003. "Health Risk Characterization of Dioxins and Related Compounds." In Dioxins and Health. 2nd Edition (eds. Arnold Schecter and Tom Gasiewicz) John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Hoboken, NJ, USA.

¹⁴⁷ USEPA. 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds.

¹⁴⁸ Ibid.

¹⁴⁹ Lester, S. and M. Belliveau. 2004.

¹⁵⁰ Costner, P. 2001.

¹⁵¹ Costner, P. 1997.

¹⁵² Thornton, J. 1997.

¹⁵³ USEPA. 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds.

¹⁵⁴ Ibid.

¹⁵⁵ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2010. *EPA's reanalysis of key issues related to dioxin toxicity and response to NAS comments (external review draft.* Online:

http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/cfm/recordisplay.cfm?deid=222203 (31 October 2010).

¹⁵⁶ Environmental Working Group. 2010. "Letter to Dr. Timothy Buckley, Chair, Dioxin Review Panel, Science Advisory Board." July 7. Online:

http://static.ewg.org/reports/2010/dioxin/pdf/EWG_comments_dioxin_reanalysis.pdf (31 October 2010).

¹⁵⁷ Lester, S., and M. Belliveau. 2004.

¹⁵⁸ Costner, P. 2001.

¹⁵⁹ Costner, P. 1997.

¹⁶⁰ Thornton, J. 1997.

¹⁶¹ United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP). 2000. *Final report: UNEP/POPS/INC.4/5—Report of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee for an international legally binding instrument for implementing international action on certain persistent organic pollutants on the work of its fourth session.* Geneva: Bonn, 20–25 March.

¹⁶² U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2006. *Great Lakes Binational Toxics Strategy Introduction*. Great Lakes Pollution Prevention and Toxics Reduction Website. Online: <u>http://www.epa.gov/glnpo/p2/bnsintro.html</u> (25 April 2008).

April 2008). ¹⁶³ USEPA. 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds.

¹⁶⁴ International Agency for Research on Cancer. 1997. *IARC Monographs on the Evaluation of Carcinogenic Risks to Humans*, Vol. 69, Polychlorinated Dibenzo-para-Dioxin and polychlorinated Dibenzofurans, Lyon, France.

¹⁶⁵ National Toxicology Program. 2001 the January 2001 addendum to the Ninth Report on Carcinogens (originally published May 2000), US HHS, Public Health Service, National Toxicology Program, Research Triangle Park, NC.

¹⁶⁶ USEPA. 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds.

¹⁶⁷ Ibid.

¹⁶⁸ Hardell, L. et.al. 2003. "Epidemiological Studies on Cancer and Exposure to Dioxins and Related Compounds." In Dioxins and Health. 2nd Edition (eds. Arnold Schecter and Tom Gasiewicz) John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Hoboken, NJ, USA.

¹⁶⁹ USEPA. 2003. Exposure and human health assessment for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and related compounds, part III: integrated summary and risk characterization for 2,3,7,8-Tetrachlorodibenzo-p-Dioxin (TCDD) and Related Compounds.

¹⁷⁰ Rier, S.E., Martin, D.C., Bowman, R.E., Dmowski, W.P., and Becker, J.L. 1993. Endometriosis in rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta) following exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachloro- dibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). *Fundamentals of Applied Toxicology* 21: 433-441.
 ¹⁷¹ Yang, LZ, Foster, W.C. 1998. Cheeric exposure to 2,2,7,8-tetrachloro- in the structure in the str

¹⁷¹ Yang, J.Z., Foster, W.G. 1998. Chronic exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin modulates the growth of endometriosis in the cynomolgus monkey. Organohalogen Compounds 37:75. Additional data was presented at Dioxin '98.

¹⁷² Cummings, A.M., Metcalf, J.L., and Birnbaum, L.S. 1996. Promotion of endometriosis by 2,3,7,8tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in rats and mice: time-dose dependence and species comparison. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 138: 131-139.

¹⁷³ Murray, F.J., Smith, F.A., Nitschke, K.D., Humiston, C.G., Kociba, R.J., and Schwetz, B.A. 1979 Threegeneration reproduction study of rats given 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) in the diet. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 50: 241-252.

¹⁷⁴ Allen, J.R., Barsotti, D.A., Lambrecht, L.K., and Van Miller, J.P. 1979 Reproductive effects of halogenated aromatic hydrocarbons on nonhuman primates. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 320: 419-425. ¹⁷⁵ Moore, R.W., Parsons, J.A., Bookstaff, R.C., and Peterson, R.E. 1985. Androgenic deficiency in male rats treated

with 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. Tox and Applied Pharmacology 79: 99-111.

¹⁷⁶ Gray, L.E., Jr., Ostby, J.S., and Kelce, W.R. 1997. A dose response analysis of reproductive effects of a single gestational dose of of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in male Long Evans hooded rat offspring. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 146: 11-20.

¹⁷⁷ Gray, L.E., Jr., Wolf, C., and Ostby, J.S. 1997. In utero exposure to low doses of 2,3,7,8- tetrachlorodibenzo-pdioxin alters reproductive development of female Long Evans hooded rat offspring. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 146: 235-237.

178 Ibid.

¹⁷⁹ Schantz, S.L. and Bowman, R.E. 1989. Learning in monkeys exposed perinatally to 2,3,7,8- tetrachlorodibenzop-dioxin (TCDD). *Neurotoxicology and Teratology* 11: 13-19.

¹⁸⁰ Seo, B-W., Sparks, A.J., Medora, K., Amin, S., and Schantz, S.L. 1999. Learning and memory in rats gestationally and lactationally exposed to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). *Neurotoxicology and Teratology* 21: 231-239.

¹⁸¹ Patandin, S., Lanting, C.I., Mulder, P.G.H., Boersma, E.R; Sauer, P.J.J., and Weisglas-Kuperus, N. 1999. Effects of environmental exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxin oncognitive abilities in Dutch children at 42 months of age. *Journal of Pediatrics* 134: 33-41.

¹⁸² Koopman-Esseboom, C., Weisglas-Kuperus, N., de Ridder, M.A., Van der Paauw, C.G., Tuinstra, L. G., and Sauer, P.J. 1996 Effects of polychlorinated biphenyl/dioxin exposure and feeding type on infants' mental and psychomotor development. *Pediatrics* 97 (5): 700-706.

¹⁸³ Huisman, M., Koopman-Esseboom, C., Lanting, C. I., Van der Paauw, C.G., Tuinstra, L.G.M., Fidler, V., Weisglas-Kuperus, N., Sauer, P.J.J., Boersma, E.R., and Touwen, B.C.L. 1995 Perinatal exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxin and its effects in neonatal neurological development. *Early Human Development* 41: 111-127.

¹⁸⁴ Huisman, M., Koopman-Esseboom, C., Lanting, C.I., Van der Paauw, C.G., Tuinstra, L.G, Fidler, V., Weisglas-Kuperus, N., Sauer, P.J., Boersma, E.R., and Touwen, B.C. 1995 Neurological condition in 18-month-old children perinatally exposed to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxin. *Early Human Development* 43: 165-176.
 ¹⁸⁵ Patandin, S., Veenstra, J., Mulder, P.G.H., Sewnaik, A., Sauer, P.J.J., and Weisglas-Kuperus, N. 1999 Attention

¹⁸⁵ Patandin, S., Veenstra, J., Mulder, P.G.H., Sewnaik, A., Sauer, P.J.J., and Weisglas-Kuperus, N. 1999 Attention and activity in 42-month-old Dutch children with environmental exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxin. In Effects of Exposure to Polychlorinated Biphenyls and Dioxin on Growth and Development in Young Children, Patandin, S. Thesis, Erasmus University, Rotterdam. Chapter 7, pp. 123-142, submitted for publication.

¹⁸⁶ Patandin, S., Koot, H.M., Sauer, P.J.J., and Weisglas-Kuperus, N. 1999 Problem behavior in Dutch preschool children in relation to background Polychlorinated Biphenyl and Dioxin exposure. In Effects of Exposure to Polychlorinated Biphenyls and Dioxin on Growth and Development in Young Children, Patandin, S. Thesis, Erasmus University, Rotterdam. Chapter 8, pp. 143-156, submitted for publication.

¹⁸⁷ Egeland, G.M., Sweeney, M.H., Fingerhut, M.A., Willie, K.K., Schnorr, T.M., and Halperin, W.E. 1994. Total serum testosterone and gonadotropins in workers exposed to dioxin. American Journal of *Epidemiology* 13: 272-281.

¹⁸⁸ Roegner, R.H., Grubbs, W.D., Lustik, M.B., Brockman, A.S., Henderson, S.C., Williams, D.E., Wolfe, W.H., Michalek, J.E., and Miner, J.C., 1991. Air Force Health Study: An Epidemiological Investigation of Health Effects in Air Force Personnel Following Exposure to Herbicides. Serum Dioxin Analysis of 1987 Examination Results. NTIS# AD A-237-516 through AD A-237-524.

¹⁸⁹ Erickson, J.D., Mulinare, J., McClain, P.W., Fitch, T.G., James, L.M., McClearn, A.B., and Adams, M.J., Jr. 1984. Vietnam veterans risks for fathering babies with birth defects. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 252: 903-912.

¹⁹⁰ Burleson, G.R., Lebrec, H., Tang, Y.G., Ibanes, J.D., Pennington, K.N., and Birnbaum, L.S. 1996. Effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) on influenza virus host resistance in mice. *Fundamentals of Applied Toxicology* 29: 40-47.
 ¹⁹¹ Gehrs, B.C., Riddle, M.M., Williams, W.C., and Smialowicz, R.J. 1997. Alterations in the developing immune

¹⁹¹ Gehrs, B.C., Riddle, M.M., Williams, W.C., and Smialowicz, R.J. 1997. Alterations in the developing immune system of the F344 rat after perinatal exposure to 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p- dioxin. II. Effects on the pup and the adult. *Toxicology* 122: 229-240.

¹⁹² Gehrs, B.C. and Smialowicz, R.J. 1998. Persistent suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity (DTH) in rats perinatally exposed to TCDD. *Toxicologist* 42: 1501.
 ¹⁹³ Burleson, G.R., Lebrec, H., Tang, Y.G., Ibanes, J.D., Pennington, K.N., and Birnbaum, L.S. 1996. Effects of

¹⁹³ Burleson, G.R., Lebrec, H., Tang, Y.G., Ibanes, J.D., Pennington, K.N., and Birnbaum, L.S. 1996. Effects of 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD) on influenza virus host resistance in mice. *Fundamentals of Applied Toxicology* 29: 40-47.

¹⁹⁴ Ross, P.S., De Swart, R.L., Reijnders, P.J., Van Loveren, H., Vos, J.G., and Osterhaus, A.D. 1995. Contaminantrelated suppression of delayed-type hypersensitivity and antibody responses in harbor seals fed herring from the Baltic Sea. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 103: 162-167.

¹⁹⁵ Tonn, K., Esser, C., Schneider, E.M., Steinmann-Steiner-Haldenstatt, W., Gleichmann, E. 1996. Persistence of decreased T-helper cell function in industrial workers 20 years after exposure to 2,3,7,8- tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 104: 422-426.

¹⁹⁶ Weisglas-Kuperus, N., Patandin, S., Berbers, G.A.M., Sas., T.C.J., Mulder, P.G.H., Sauer, P.J.J., and Hooijkaas, H. 1999. Immunological effects of background exposure to polychlorinated biphenyls and dioxin in Dutch toddlers, in Effects of Exposure to Polychlorinated Biphenyls and Dioxin on Growth and Development in Young Children, Patandin, S. Thesis, Erasmus University, Rotterdam. Chapter 9, pp. 157-168, submitted for publication.

¹⁹⁷ Pluim, H.J., de Vijlder, J.J., Olie, K., Kok, J.H., Vulsma, T., van Tijn, D.A., van der Slikke, J.W., and Koppe, J.G. 1993a Effects of pre- and postnatal exposure to chlorinated dioxin and furans on the human neonatal thyroid hormone concentrations. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 101 (6): 504-508.

¹⁹⁸ Nagayama, J., Okamura, K., Iida, T., Hirakawa, H., Matsueda, T., Tsuji, H., Hasegawa, M., Sato, K., Ma, H.Y., Yanagawa, T., Igarashi, H., Fukushige, J., and Watanabe, T. 1998. Postnatal exposure to chlorinated dioxin and related chemicals on thyroid hormone status in Japanese breast-fed infants. *Chemosphere* 37: 1789-1793.

¹⁹⁹ Wolfe, W.H., Michalek, J.E., Miner, J.C., and Rahe, A.J. 1992 Air Force Health Study. An epidemiologic investigation of health effects in Air Force personnel following exposure to herbicides. Reproductive outcomes. Brooks Air Force Base, TX: Epidemiology Research Division, Armstrong Laboratory, Human Systems Division (AFSC).

²⁰⁰ Pazderova-Vejlupkova, J., Nemcova, M., Pickova, J., Jirasek, L., and Lukas, E. 1981. The development and prognosis of chronic intoxication by tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin in men. *Archives of Environmental Health* 36 (1): 5-11.

²⁰¹ Henriksen, G.L., Ketchum, N.S., Michalek, J.E, and Swaby, J.A. 1997. Serum Dioxin and Diabetes Mellitis in Veterans of Operation Ranch Hand. *Epidemiology* 8 (3): 252-258.

²⁰² Lester, S. and M. Belliveau. 2004

²⁰³ Costner, P. 2001.

²⁰⁴ Costner, P. 1997.

²⁰⁵ Thornton, J. 1997.

²⁰⁶ Lester, S. and M. Belliveau. 2004.

²⁰⁷ Costner, P. 2001.

²⁰⁸ Costner, P. 1997.

²⁰⁹ Thornton, J. 1997.

²¹⁰ Lester, S. and M. Belliveau. 2004.

²¹¹ Costner, P. 2001.

²¹² U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2006. An inventory of sources and environmental releases of dioxin-like compounds in the United States for the years 1987, 1995, and 2000. (EPA/600/P-03/002f). Final Report, November. Online: http://cfpub.epa.gov/ncea/cfm/ recordisplay.cfm?deid=159286 (12 March 2008).

²¹³ Theisen, J. 1991. Untersuchung der moglichen umwelt- gefahrdung beim brand von kunststoffen (Investigation of possible environmental dangers caused by burning plastics) German Umweltbundesamt Report 104-09-222, Berlin, Germany.

²¹⁴ Wilken, M. 1994. Dioxin emissions from furnaces, particularly from wood furnaces. Berlin, Germany: Engineering Group for Technological Environmental Protection for the German Environmental Protection Agency, February.

²¹⁵ Lester, S. and M. Belliveau. 2004.

²¹⁶ USEPA. 2006. An inventory of sources and environmental releases of dioxin-like compounds in the United States for the years 1987, 1995, and 2000.

²¹⁷ International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF). 1995. *Hazardous materials: polyvinyl chloride*. Department of Occupational Health and Safety, Revised May 16.

²¹⁸ TNO Institute of Environmental and Energy Technology. 1996. A PVC substance flow analysis for Sweden: Report for Norsk-Hydro. Apeldoorn, Netherlands. Cited in Thornton, J. 2002. Environmental impacts of polyvinyl chloride building materials – A Healthy Building Network report. Washington, DC: Healthy Building Network. Online: http://www.healthybuilding.net/pvc/Thornton_Enviro_ Impacts_of_PVC.pdf (5 22 October 2010).
²¹⁹ Lester, S. and M. Belliveau. 2004.

²²⁰ Kaufman, S.M. et al. 2004. The state of garbage in America: 14th annual nationwide survey of solid waste management in the United States. A joint study with the Earth Engineering Center of Columbia University. *Biocycle* 45(1): 31-41, January.

²²¹ Commission of the European Communities. 2000. *Green paper: Environmental issues of PVC*. Brussels: COM. 469 Final, July 26. Online: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/environment/waste/pvc/en.pdf</u> (22 October 2010).

²²² Mersiowski, I. and J. Ejlertsoon. 1999. *Long-term behaviour of PVC products under landfill conditions*. Technical University of Hamburg-Harburg, Germany and Linköping University, Sweden, July.

²²³ ARGUS. 2000. *The behaviour of PVC in landfill*. Final report. ARGUS in association with University of Rostock-Prof Spillmann, Carl Bro a/s and Sigma Plan S.A. European Commission DGXIO.E.3, February.

²²⁴ AEA Technology. 2000. *Economic evaluation of PVC waste management*. Oxfordshire, England: AEA Technology. Prepared for the European Commission Environment Directorate, June.

²²⁵ ARGUS. 2000. *The behaviour of PVC in landfill*. Final report. ARGUS in association with University of Rostock-Prof Spillmann, Carl Bro a/s and Sigma Plan S.A. European Commission DGXIO.E.3, February.

²²⁷ U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 1995. Air emissions from municipal solid waste landfills – Background information for final standards and guidelines, final EIS. Office of Air Quality Planning and Standards, EPA-453/R-94-021. Research Triangle Park, NC, December.

²²⁸ Federal Emergency Management Agency. 2002. Landfill fires: their magnitude, characteristics, and mitigation. United States Fire Administration, May, Online: http://www.usfa.dhs.gov/downloads/pdf/publications/fa-225.pdf (20 October 2010).

²²⁹ USEPA. 2006. An inventory of sources and environmental releases of dioxin-like compounds in the United States *for the years 1987, 1995, and 2000.* ²³⁰ Ibid.

²³¹ Safer Chemicals Healthy Families. 2010. "Momentum Builds in Congress to Overhaul U.S. Chemicals Policy," Press Release, July 22. Online: http://www.saferchemicals.org/2010/07/momentum-builds-in-congress-to-overhaul-<u>us-chemicals-policy.html</u> (31 October 2010).

Allen et al. 2008. Linking PBDEs in House Dust to Consumer Products using X-ray Fluorescence. Environmental Science & Technology 42: 4222-4228, April 30.

²³³ Morley et. Al. 1999. Evaluation of a portable X-ray fluorescence instrument for the determination of lead in workplace air samples. Applied Occupational and Environmental Hygiene 14(5): 306-316.

²³⁴ Reames, G. and L. Lance. 2002. Childhood lead poisoning investigations: evaluating a portable instrument for testing soil lead. *Journal of Environmental Health* 64(8): 9-13. ²³⁵ U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (CPSC). 2009. <u>Study of the Effectiveness</u>, Precision, and Reliability

of X-ray Fluorescence Spectrometry and Other Alternative Methods for Measuring Lead in Paint, August. ²³⁶ Van Guilder, B. 2007. Fact Sheet: Identifying Elements in Products using X-Ray Fluorescence Spectrometry.

Ecology Center, Ann Arbor, MI. Online: http://www.healthystuff.org/documents/XRFfactsheet.pdf.

²³⁷ Ecology Center. 2008. Abstracts from Peer Reviewed Research Using X-Ray Fluorescence Technology, November. Online: http://www.healthystuff.org/documents/XRFResearchAbstracts.pdf.

²²⁶ Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR). 2001. Landfill gas primer an overview for environmental health professionals. Atlanta, GA: Public Health Service, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Online: http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp20.html (20 October 2010).